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Friday, March 2, 2007


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:38 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Adams is here.  I don't actually see him in the room, but he's agreed to be bumped until we finish with this panel.  I think there's about an hour, an hour and a half left.  If I'm not mistaken, Mr. Buonaguro is next, but before we start that, Mr. Chair, did you wish to start to discuss the argument schedule?


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  I don't know whether you distributed - if we haven't, we will - a suggested schedule for argument in this matter, and you can give it your consideration, and we can have your views on it later.  


One thing to add to this, and this relates to the CIS customer care matter.  As I understand it, the matter is still not settled, but negotiations are continuing on.


What we propose is that -- two things.  If there isn't a settlement by the 22nd on this matter, we will issue a procedural order dealing with the framework, if I can put it that way, to hear evidence on it, whether that involves interrogatories or not, but as part of the argument, we want to be in a position to put in an expense for this, in this case, on an interim basis.  


So we would like you, Mr. Cass, to address that in your argument and the other parties to address that, and we'll hear submissions, and we're going to have oral reply at the end of this, at the date I've indicated, which is April 5th, I think, at which time we will hear further submissions on the interim amount, assuming, of course, there's no settlement.  If there's a settlement, then the whole problem goes away.


As to the final amount, we will have to hear evidence, and we obviously won't be able to hear evidence in this time frame.


[Board confers]


MR. KAISER:  I guess one of the questions we're struggling with - Mr. Cass, maybe you can help us ‑ has to do with this desire to put rates in place on April 1st, which is the QRAM date.  As we've worked through this schedule - and I think there's been discussions with you in terms of what your scheduling commitments are next week with NGEIR and other things, so we've allowed a little extra time -- we've got the oral reply here on April ‑‑ I thought it was initially April 5th.  Is it April 6th or 5th?


MR. MILLAR:  Thursday, April 5th.  


MR. KAISER:  Thursday, April 5th.  

So the question Mr. Vlahos is raising is:  How do we get rates in place by April 1st?  I don't know how we do it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, wouldn't the company need a decision mid‑March to have rates in place by April 1st, something like that?


MR. CASS:  Sorry, I didn't hear you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wouldn't the company need a decision by mid‑March to have rates in place by April 1st, something in that order? 


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, if this is helpful, Mr. Bourke is explaining to me that the company is working on what it would need to do to be able to implement the rate impacts of the settlement by April 1st.  


In terms of the rate impacts of what would flow out of a decision, that would be considerably later in terms of when the company would be able to implement that.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So, as I understand, it's sort of a two‑step process?


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Cass, so that I understand it, the agreement called for a certain adjustment to the rates effective April 1st, and that assumes certain amounts of money for customer care in the proposed rates.


MR. KAISER:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  No, it doesn't?


MR. KAISER:  That's not settled.  The April 1st was just the settled amounts.


MR. CASS:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  Which does not include customer care.


MR. CASS:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, it's probably too early in the morning for my little cris de cour, but the date imposes an almost impossible burden on my client.  Ms. Girvan is away effective tonight for a week, and then I'm away for the two weeks after that. 


The result is that she and I will have exactly one day, on the 25th, after I get back, in order to finalize instructions and prepare an argument.  It simply can't be done, Mr. Chairman, and so I would ask that the Board give some consideration to moving the 26th to the 29th.  


We can work ‑‑ I'll undertake to work hard for the four days after I get back to get it in order, but I can't do it on -- we can't do it on those dates, sir.  It's just physically impossible for us to do it.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, let's suppose we do that.  How much ‑‑ do we need to move the April 5th date, in that event?


MR. CASS:  My difficulty, Mr. Chair, is I'm not speaking only on my own behalf when I answer that.  Speaking on my own behalf, I feel that we could move very promptly and even if we moved it, perhaps, to the Friday or the Monday, that that would be sufficient.  But there would be others involved in this ‑‑ oh, the Friday is ‑‑ I'm being reminded this is Easter.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we do this, gentlemen?  Why don't you discuss amongst yourselves, see if you can at least come to an agreement, and then it will be just a question of looking at what the Board members' time allotments are?


MR. CASS:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, then I have a procedural matter to raise flowing from that, and that is you'll recall on day 9 Mr. Cass filed some letters, and we asked for the opportunity to cross‑examine the authors of those of those letters.  I've been holding off on that, because I didn't want, frankly, to be the one to extend the hearing for the sake of an hour of cross‑examination.  


In light of this argument schedule, my suggestion is that we forego that cross‑examination, much as I would love to do it, if that's acceptable to the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Well, we appreciate that, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I have one other procedural matter to address that flows out this, and I hope I will get this correctly, because to some extent I'm speaking on behalf of Mr. Thompson.


As a result of an undertaking that's been answered, I believe in connection with the issue about revenue‑to‑cost ratios, Mr. Thompson had some follow‑up questions.  We had asked Ms. Collier to come and sit on the rate implementation panel, which we expect later today, to deal with those questions.  


Mr. Thompson has been unable to travel because of the weather, and so I think that how we can deal with it is he can submit the questions in writing and the company will respond to them in a timely fashion.


MR. KAISER:  Is that acceptable to him?


MR. CASS:  Mr. Steven was communicating with him about this by e‑mail, and I'm not sure if it was an absolutely positive "yes", but perhaps Mr. Stevens could address it.


MR. STEVENS:  I think it's fair to say, Mr. Chair, that Mr. Thompson's preference was to ask oral questions on the 22nd, but he was prepared, as a second position, to have a spot left, in terms of an undertaking number, so that he could ask these questions in writing. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, if you could just get some confirmation from him that that's acceptable, we'll proceed on that basis.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Are we back to bill inserts?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I take it that's me?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, sir.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 7; RESUMED
     Paul Green; Previously Sworn
     Kerry Lakatos-Hayward; Previously Sworn
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, Panel.  I can start by telling you I got my Enbridge bill a couple of weeks ago, and have been preparing for bill inserts.  I scooped all of the bill inserts out of my bill to see what I was getting, and I thought it might be a good lead-in for the discussion.  At the same time, ironically, I got what we've been calling a Value Pack from an undisclosed group of people who stuff with bill inserts at the same time.  I can tell you I tossed that one.  I didn't open that one, but I did open my Enbridge bill and I got a number of inserts.  

I got one for the Winter Warmth Program.  You can confirm, I guess, for me that that's a common insert that Enbridge puts in.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I got an Ontario Energy Board information circular called "Natural Gas and You."  That presumably counts as an Enbridge insert?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, I believe so.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I got "Pipeline," which is 

Enbridge's customer information circular, I guess we can call it?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  On the back of that the entire page, it says:  "Carbon Monoxide Safety.”  It says:  “Important safety information,” and there is customer information about carbon monoxide.  

Does that count as a safety message from Enbridge?  I'm thinking about the settlement proposal in terms of safety messages.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  While we used the "Pipeline" newsletter as a general customer communications vehicle, there would be standalone safety bill inserts that we would for the purposes of the partial settlement classify as “safety,” and at that point that would limit the number of third-party bill inserts.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  So, as an example, I believe we had run recently a safety bill insert on carbon monoxide, and "Call Before you Dig."

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I also got “Natural Gas Pricing and Update,” which I assume qualifies as an Enbridge insert?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And then I got a Direct Energy pamphlet, which I guess is a third-party insert.  It's the type of thing that you're building on in your proposal?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I can mention that on the back of the Direct Energy insert, there's a disclaimer that says:                "Direct Energy is not owned by or affiliated with Enbridge Inc. or Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc."

     That's the type of disclaimer you're proposing for all of the third-party inserts?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, it is.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Has that disclaimer always appeared on Direct Energy's -- as long as Direct Energy hasn't been affiliated with Enbridge, I assume that that disclaimer has been on over the years?  

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, I don't believe that that messaging has been on Direct Energy's bill inserts in the past.  Consistent with the bill insert pilot that we conducted with 2006, we aligned all third parties so that that similar messaging would be on all bill inserts.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Do they have any kind of similar disclaimer on their inserts?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Sorry, previous to 200 --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Previous to alignment, as you called it.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We'd have to go back and check.  

It was addressed, I believe, in the 2006 rate case as to how do we really differentiate the two companies, but I can't recall the details of it.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you take an undertaking to review the history of the disclaimer that you required of them, since they've been a third party on the bill?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

     Now, in terms of the settlement proposal, I have --

     MR. MILLAR:  Sorry to interrupt you, Mr. Buonaguro.  It looks like I may have once again missed an undertaking.    Was there an undertaking just there?  Sorry, I was speaking with Mr. Battista.  

That would be J14.1, and if you would be good enough to repeat it for me.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  To review the history of the disclaimer Direct Energy has had to put on their bill inserts with respect to a new relationship with Enbridge.

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.1:  TO REVIEW HISTORY OF 

DISCLAIMER IN BILL INSERTS 

     MR. MILLAR:  Again, if I could impose on you to speak up just a little.  We're under a fan and we have a lot of difficulty hearing.  Thanks.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I'll try.

     Now, in terms of numbers, that means I have four Enbridge-related inserts in my bill now, and one third-party bill.  Does that sound right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That sounds right.  For the months where we have the QRAM, there will be that rate notice, so that will occur four times a year.  And I've been advised by our communications group that we will run safety bill inserts six times a year.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  So in addition to the four I have here, Enbridge plus the third-party bill I already have, the proposal adds up to six other inserts, up to six and up to five, I guess, in those months we have a safety or regulatory-based insert?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  I will qualify that -- and it gets a little bit complicated to go through all the permutations, but if you recall part of the settlement was that we were going to dedicate two hoppers or two bill inserts for third parties that wanted a limited geographical distribution.  For those two, it would be fair to say that not all customers are going to get the six inserts.  That might be a limited number.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.

     MR. GREEN:  Just to clarify, if I could, 

Mr. Buonaguro, and not to complicate things as well, but I believe when the QRAM, when the rate application notices go in, they actually consume more than one of the hopper spaces, so as we were going through the count and you were talking about how many additional insert spaces may or may not be available, it is going to play into the fact that some of those communications - i.e., the rate implementation notices - do consume more than one hopper slot, if you will.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  They might replace, for example, the 

Winter Warmth.

     MR. GREEN:  Yes, they could, as an example.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  As an example?

     MR. GREEN:  As an example.  That's fine.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, in terms of looking at the value that putting a third-party insert into the bill provides to third parties, as I explained, I tossed the value pack that I got, and I opened my Enbridge bill, presumably, in the first instance to look at my Enbridge bill.  Would you agree with me that's one of the primary values, or one of the initial values in having the insert in the Enbridge bill, as opposed to a generic value pack?

     MR. GREEN:  I think there are going to be organizations that see value in having a natural gas product or a service and that message contained in the Enbridge Gas bill.  I don't want to discount, if you will, totally the value of the ad pack, because there are organizations that use that vehicle, and organizations make business decisions on what they see as far as their value as to whether it's an ad pack or not.

     But the promotion, the opportunity to help customers make informed purchasing decisions and including that information in the Enbridge bill certainly holds value.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Again, I agree with you not to discount the value pack, but it's a simple proposition; one of the advantages is that I have to get at my Enbridge bill if I want to pay it?

     MR. GREEN:  You have to open the envelope. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. GREEN:  I concur.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  It's a simple point.


MR. GREEN:  No, but you have to open the envelope to get the gas bill.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. GREEN:  However, you can pull out the bill and you can pull out the inserts.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. GREEN:  And you may say, I'm going to throw it all out, but, I mean, from our research that's been filed, there's a certain percentage ‑ I think we're talking 9 or 10 percent ‑ that automatically will put the bill inserts in a pile that's going into the garbage can, so you do have to open ‑‑ I concur with you.  You do have to open the gas bill.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


In addition, the gas bill goes to ‑‑ first of all, is addressed to people who are actually paying for gas; right?  So, for example, my bill is addressed to me, and I'm a gas consumer and am the person responsible for paying the gas.


So when you put a bill insert in my bill, there's an element of targeting there that isn't available through the value pack, generally speaking.  Is that of value?


MR. GREEN:  Sorry, I was trying to walk through that. Yes.  I mean, the ability to target message about something that's related to natural gas inside the gas bill and targeting it to the individual who's accountable for paying the bill has value.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And, in addition, you actually have a ‑‑ and I guess we'll talk about it in more detail later, but you have an opt‑out program or an opt-out option for bill inserts.  So, for example, if I decided I don't want more of those third‑party inserts, I can opt out.  So you're not sending bill inserts to people who really don't want them.


MR. GREEN:  That's correct, there is that opt-out ability, and I think we've also addressed that in the settlement proposal about that effective communication process to consumers.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I just want to be clear on the opt-out process, that that opt-out is only for marketing bill inserts.  Customers ‑‑ it is a requirement that customers get the safety bill inserts, our regulatory notices.  So these are the non‑marketing messages.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I would like to turn to the survey information that you filed in terms of how customers are reacting or what they think about bill inserts or third‑party bill inserts.  


Chronologically speaking, I think the oldest one you have is labelled "KT.1", and it was produced at the Tech Conference that we had on January 10th.  And I think you produced it voluntarily, without any particular question attached to it.


I gave a list of documents to the Board Staff, I think.  There it is.


Now, as I understand this particular survey, this covers the years ‑‑ misses 2001, goes to 2005, and it tells you what people do with their bill inserts or tries to draw a picture of what people do with the inserts once they get them.  Is that a fair summary?


MR. GREEN:  That's a fair summary.  I think, Mr. Buonaguro, if I draw you to the bottom of that exhibit, it shows a question.  It says "Q58", and then "Q59", which is asking what statement best describes what they do, and then a direct question:  "Have you ever acted on a bill insert?"


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now, I guess of particular interest to VECC is you have a breakout at the top that says seniors 65-plus years have a 27 percent chance -- or 27 percent of them are more likely to read most or all the bill inserts, as opposed to the general rate of 17 percent, and low income households are at 30 percent, as opposed to the general rate of 17 percent.


Now, I want to ask you if you have any evidence about why that is?  


MR. GREEN:  I don't think we've done any specific market research as to why that age group.  I mean, the last -- the last segment or the last bullet there talks about non‑Internet users, as well as saying that they read them at 27 percent.  But I haven't done any ‑‑ to the best of my knowledge, any specific research to say why those categories of customers, if we can cluster them in that manner.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, this particular survey, I guess that runs from 2000 to 2005, and in that period, as I understand it, the only third party on the bill is Direct Energy?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So to the extent that we're talking about people acting on a bill insert or not acting on a bill insert, we're actually talking of people either who may be acting on a Direct Energy's bill insert or an Enbridge bill insert?


MR. GREEN:  That's correct.  It could have been as the result of the marketing program.  It could be, you know, a demand side management initiative.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.


Now, this particular survey doesn't talk about what people think about bill inserts other than what they do with them; is that fair?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  Yes, that's fair.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you do have some further survey information, more recent, that I think talks to that, Exhibit D1, tab 11, schedule 13, for example.


MR. GREEN:  We have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, as I understand it, this was conducted during your pilot project, where Carrier was added as a third party, in addition to Direct Energy.  During which months were they again?


MR. GREEN:  Carrier Canada had ‑‑


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, it's actually on the survey:  August, September, October.


MR. GREEN:  August, September.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Of 2006.


MR. GREEN:  Just for clarification - sorry, excuse me, Mr. Buonaguro - Carrier had an insert in the August and September bill.  This is just talking about ‑‑ that line is talking about recall.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So, actually, this survey, like you said, it only talks about recalls.  You're trying to demonstrate how effective bill inserts are in sort of name recognition?


MR. GREEN:  This actual document was the result of some of our discussion at the open bill consultative, if you will, as to how ‑‑ what was going on.  So it did at least give us a snapshot at that point in time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And again, actually, this survey doesn't actually talk about what people think about the bill insert service of third parties?


MR. GREEN:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you do have another one, another survey, which appears at Exhibit D1, tab 11, schedule 14, so I guess it is the following schedule in the evidence.  And, in particular, I'm looking at page 3.  I referred to this briefly with the Direct Energy panel yesterday.


Now, I understand from the Tech Conference that this survey was conducted in October of 2006?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's about right, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And at that time, the two-third parties that would have appeared on the bill in the recent time period would have been Direct Energy and Carrier?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, that's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And according to Ipsos‑Reid, who conducted the survey on your behalf, it appears, 63 percent of your customers believe there is already enough inserts in the bill - and I'm paraphrasing the first answer here - and adding more would just add to the confusion; is that correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, I would agree with that.  What I would also draw your attention to is, if you go down to the third column or bar there where it is asked for inserts for natural gas supply and equipment contractors or retailers/suppliers, "Tell me about qualified suppliers that Enbridge represents", you can see that 66 percent of our customers either strongly agree or somewhat agree with that statement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, are you looking at the fourth question or the third question?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  The third one, "Inserts for natural gas" --


MR. BUONAGURO:  "Tell me about qualified suppliers that Enbridge recommends"? 
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That Enbridge recommends.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I was going to ask you about that.

     Is that true?  Does Enbridge recommend the third parties that it provides inserts for?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, we do actually put the disclaimers onto the bill inserts as we've talked about; that these are independent companies.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  But despite the disclaimers, it appears that about two-thirds of your customers think that you are, in fact, recommending those third parties.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  My interpretation here is that customers are seeing that we're providing information on natural gas appliance equipment contractors or qualified suppliers.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it's pretty clear what it says.  It says the proposition that was put to your customers is, as it's written, inserts for natural gas appliance equipment contractors or retail suppliers; tell me about, A, qualified suppliers that, B, Enbridge recommends.

     There are two things asserted there:  A, that they're qualified; and, B, Enbridge recommends them.  And 66 percent of the people agree with that statement.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, I would agree that that's what the question asks.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you just told me that in fact Enbridge doesn't recommend third parties that it puts in its bill inserts?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, and the third parties who participated in our bill insert pilot, I believe we made it clear in our bill insert language that these are separate companies and Enbridge does not recommend them.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I understand that.  But despite that, after those bill inserts went out, you surveyed your customers and they still thought, two-thirds of them thought, that they were being recommended by Enbridge and, since you're not recommending them, that's a problem.

Would you agree with me?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  It's a potential problem, and the way that we are looking at addressing that is through the external communications plan that we have filed at D1, tab 11, schedule 30.  We want to make sure that if the bill insert service is approved, that customers clearly understand what these third-party bill inserts are.

     We've highlighted in the communication plan a number of specific tactics and strategies that we're going to use.  As an example, your new bill insert.  A special bill insert highlighting the changes to the bill and bill inserts, illustrating how to read the new bill and identifying how customers can identify non-Enbridge gas companies.

     We're trying to make it as clear to customers what the role and the relationship is of these third parties who are participating in the bill insert service.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we heard Direct Energy yesterday talk about the efforts they've gone through to distinguish themselves from Enbridge since they've been non-affiliated.  I don't know if you have reviewed that evidence as it came in.  

I think, Mr. Green, you were in the room, but I don't think Ms. Lakatos-Hayward was.

     MR. GREEN:  I was in the room, Mr. Buonaguro, when that statement was made.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding of their evidence was they've spent the last, I guess it's, seven years now, six or seven years, trying to distinguish themselves from Enbridge at the same time that they've been third parties on the bill.  And yet still you have a statement like this, that Enbridge is recommending them because they're on the bill insert.  

So I'm a little concerned about, after seven years, if people still think it's a recommendation, even though they're not affiliated and even though they've been working to distinguish themselves, why you think it's going to be effective going forward.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think our perspective is that, moving forward, we will be implementing the customer communication plan, I think, to make it clearer to customers who the third parties are, and if there are any what I'll term “residual issues” on who is participating in the service, that we'll address it that way.

     I can say that this seems to be a common problem that we believe is not directly as a result of the bill.  We face the same problem with brokers and the fact that a large component of direct-purchase customers still believe that they get system-gas from Enbridge Gas Distribution.

     I think that it's just a complicated industry for customers to understand.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Turning to the second question.  The conclusion there was that about 50 percent of your customers - 48 percent, to be exact - think you shouldn't be allowed to put in third-party inserts.  How do you respond to that?

     MR. GREEN:  We've looked at that number and appreciate the fact that 48 percent of customers have talked about the allowance or non-allowance of bill inserts, but as Ms. Lakatos-Hayward earlier took us to elements 3 and 4, it still is describing in there that customers are seeing the value in the bill insert; that it either connects them with a professional service provider, if you will; but that inserts inside the Enbridge bill, which is specifically at point 4, help make them more aware of suppliers available for natural gas appliance products or services, if you will.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, in terms of interpreting the results in conjunction with one another, I think it's more telling - and you can tell me if you agree or not - the fact that even though 61 percent say that the inserts make them more aware about suppliers of natural gas appliance products and services, 50 percent still don't think you should be allowed to do it anyway.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think it's always a question of the glass half full, half empty.  It would seem to me that the other 50 percent seem to say that it's okay.

     What we're bringing forward here in the partial settlement is what we believe is a reasonable way to proceed that addresses many of these issues.

     I think we recognize that the results here on this kind of market research is mixed, and so we've tried to address that in the partial settlement.

     One way, for example, is in the problem resolution.  I believe in the Technical Conference we indicated that we had not received any customer complaints as a result of the third-party bill inserts, and what this component on the partial settlement puts in place is that if the number of customer complaints on inserts increases significantly in the first two months of operation, the stakeholder committee would be convened to address the concern, and if we can't -- sorry, if someone wants the reference number, it's Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix D, paragraph 9.

     But as I was saying, the stakeholder committee would be convened to address the concern, and if the problem couldn't be resolved, then the insert service would be discontinued until the problem is addressed.

     In addition, we will be doing customer research in 2007 to create a baseline to look at if there is customer confusion, if you will, in the marketplace; and that we will continue to track that through 2007 and 2008.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  A couple more questions about the survey while I have it up.

     With respect to the 66 percent number that believe they're being told about qualified suppliers that Enbridge recommends, do you have a breakout similar to the first survey I showed you?  And I'm thinking specifically about how you broke out the answers for seniors, 65-plus, and lower income households, 30 percent-plus.  

And I can tell you why I'm interested in that.  Your previous survey information suggests that those two groups are much more likely to go through the bill inserts in detail.  I'm concerned that if they may also be more likely to believe that they're being told about qualified suppliers that Enbridge recommends, at the same time disproportionate to the -- to a average.  

So it may be, for example, that low income and senior citizens may believe more than 60 percent -- 66 percent of them believe that they're being recommended -- that certain third parties are being recommended to them or that they're qualified.  

Do you have that type of information as part of the survey?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Sorry, it was fairly lengthy.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  The actual question is:  Do you have information about those two market segments with respect to that question?


MR. GREEN:  I don't know, but we could take an undertaking to find out if that detail is in the back of the question for you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Great.


MR. MILLAR:  J14.2, and could you repeat the undertaking, please, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  With respect to Exhibit D1, tab 11, schedule 14, page 3, question 3, which indicates that 66 percent of Enbridge customers believe that inserts for natural gas appliance equipment contractors or retailers/suppliers tell them about qualified suppliers that Enbridge recommends, whether there is a breakdown by market segment with respect to low‑income households or consumers and senior citizen consumers similar to the breakdown that appears in Exhibit KT.1.


UNDERTAKING NO. J14.2:  IF AVAILABLE, PROVIDE 

BREAKDOWN BY MARKET SEGMENT WITH RESPECT TO LOW-INCOME 

AND SENIOR CITIZEN CONSUMERS SIMILAR TO WHAT APPEARS 

IN EXHIBIT KT.1

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we talked about the fact that Enbridge doesn't, in fact, recommend these people, these third parties that put inserts in.


The first part of that, though, also talks about qualified -- or qualifications.  People believe that you're recommending qualified suppliers.  Is that true?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, it's not.  We do not ‑‑ this is not related to the EnergyLink program where we're pre‑qualifying the bill insert product.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I had a long series of questions about that, but I think you've gone to the nub of it, which is you don't pre‑screen bill insert providers, contractor/suppliers, in the same way that you pre‑screen EnergyLink participants? 


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Just to be clear, with respect, there is a bill insert contract that the third parties would be required to sign with us.  There are insurance provisions in there of $5 million, and there is language in there that makes it clear that, you know, we're not accountable for any claims arising from the bill insert.


So we believe that from that contractual basis, you know, that's the appropriate way to do that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So with respect to contractors or suppliers who put in bill inserts, you require them to provide insurance and coverage for Enbridge in case you get sued if they blow something up, and presumably, then, insurance applies to the claim, but you do nothing to pre‑screen them in the sense that, for example, you don't verify that they have TSSA company registration?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No.  If you recall, there is no limitation on -- that the participant has to be an EnergyLink participant, and ‑‑ yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not even ‑‑ EnergyLink is convenient, because you've set out a series of criteria that you believe makes a contractor qualified, but I'm not actually asking about EnergyLink.


The point is you mention insurance, and I guess the harsh point there is that people are covered by insurance if something goes wrong.  But you haven't done anything to ensure that there is a ‑‑ to reduce the chances of something going wrong?


MR. GREEN:  Pardon the pause.  I guess the short answer to that is no, and I'm just thinking about the third‑party bill insert providers thus far, and whether that's the three that were the participants, Carrier and Lennox Service Experts and Aire One -- directly to your point, Mr. Buonaguro, we didn't check to see that they were, by way of example, TSSA qualified or anything of that nature, sir.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you're not proposing to do that as part of the program?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  As you recall, the bill insert service was part of the consultative process.  That recommendation had not been made to the company as part of the bill insert process.  It's something that we'd be willing to look at if that's a recommendation, but at this point that was not part of the partial settlement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you mentioned EnergyLink a couple times, and I can't help but point out that if a third party who puts a bill insert into the bill happens to be an EnergyLink participant, then your statement about qualified supplier that Enbridge recommends might actually apply to that particular insert.  Is that true?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, if you recall from the partial settlement, that that third party would not be allowed to display the EnergyLink logo, so...


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I wasn't suggesting that the EnergyLink logo was on that bill insert.  I'm just saying that if they happen to be an EnergyLink participant, then that statement happens to be true?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I would agree with that, for the purposes of EnergyLink.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  

And one last thing about this survey.  You went to some lengths with respect to the EnergyLink evidence to say that you don't -- you don't do anything with respect to pricing.  You don't recommend any particular EnergyLink participant with respect to the prices that they're going to provide.  You don't do any price control or anything like that.  And I presume that's the same for bill inserts.  You don't warrant that the prices being offered by people who are putting in bill inserts are particularly fair, particularly good; nothing like that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think it would be fair to say that Enbridge Gas Distribution approves the content.  What we want to ensure happens ‑‑ or does not happen is that a third party -- let's just use the example of Carrier, that Carrier does not go out and say, you know, Choose us; we're better than Trane, or there's a -- I would say a negative malignment of other companies.


But with respect to price or product, no, we do not look at that or would make any changes in that regard.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a couple questions that have to do with the privacy ‑‑ the federal privacy legislation.  I can never remember the number ‑‑ the name of the privacy legislation.  Hold on a second.  The Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, which is the federal legislation having to do with protection, obviously, of personal information that's gathered by companies like Enbridge.


Have you discussed privacy issues with respect to bill inserts with ‑‑ and I presume you have a privacy office or commission of some sort?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  We have a chief privacy officer.  We have reviewed our privacy statement with respect to carrying of third‑party inserts.


We have recently made changes to the privacy statement.  That is now available on our website.  


In addition, we will be advising customers, prior to the inclusion of bill inserts resulting from the RFP, about the third‑party bill inserts.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I take it that last comment has to do with needing to obtain consent from your customers to use their address information to send advertising to them?  I'm trying to summarize what I believe to be the requirements of the Act in this particular context.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think we'd have to go back and double-check with our privacy officer if that would be a correct ‑‑ or her interpretation.  But our guidance from the chief privacy officer is that we would be in compliance by prior to increasing the number of bill inserts that we have, so over and above what we're doing today, to advise customers about who these third parties are and the opt-out process that they would have available.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  You're not actually asking people to indicate consent in any way; it's sort of a negative ... I say "negative billing option" but I guess it's a “negative consent option,” which I understand is available under the act, but that's essentially what you're doing.  You're telling people how you're going to use information and giving them the option to opt out?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, that would be fair.

     MR. MILLAR:  Did you want that undertaking, 

Mr. Buonaguro?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure, just to confirm their position or how they're dealing with their obligations under the privacy legislation.

     MR. MILLAR:  That's J14.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.3:  TO CONFIRM POSITION RE 

OBLIGATIONS UNDER PRIVACY LEGISLATION

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, to be fair, this is sort of an 

EnergyLink question, but it has to do with privacy, and I don't think it was asked.  It's in a similar vein.

     You talk about gathering information with respect to equipment, and customer volumes from EnergyLink participants, from EnergyLink contractors who install equipment through a referral?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We're gathering information on the equipment removed and the equipment installed so that we can calculate the volumetric impact.  This would be similar to if you have a DSM or rebate offer.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I think that our position would be, in terms of consumer protection, that the information is to first the customers and then is being transferred to the EnergyLink contractor, who presumably, in order to give it back to you, has to get the customer's consent.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, they do.  And before the CSR or if the customer is going on the website, there are terms and conditions that they have to accept that does include that information.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  So we tell customers how that information is going to be used.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That clears that little point up for me.

     I would like to turn to the settlement proposal, which is N1, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix D.  I thought it would be convenient to go through it with my questions, similar to what Board Staff did to the Open Bill services settlement proposal.

     Now, the proposal is in two steps, I guess.  There's an interim solution and a comprehensive solution.  The comprehensive solution isn't actually proposed; it's something that will be applied for, as I understand it, in approximately two years?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  What we want to do in the interim solution is, first of all, look at the costing and the market pricing and undertake that study.

     We want to be able to evaluate the results to have customer communication activities and customer surveys and then come to a determination of if the bill insert program would continue and, if so, under what terms.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you mention the costing and pricing studies which appear at paragraph 4 as a commitment under the settlement proposal.  In the same breath, I think you referred to the surveys.  There's actually no commitment in the body of the settlement proposal with respect to surveys.

     Now, I understand you refer to survey information in the customer communication plan, which is D1, tab 11, schedule 30.  Am I to understand that the communications plan and what you propose to do in the communications plan is binding in terms of the settlement?  And I'm thinking specifically of the survey information.

     MR. GREEN:  I just want to draw your attention, 

Mr. Buonaguro, to item number 8, which was talking about the stakeholder input, if you will.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hm.

     MR. GREEN:  It's towards the last part of that paragraph.  It's actually the second-last sentence:

"... to ensure that consumer interests are being addressed, EGD will conduct focus groups and customer surveys on inserts as soon as possible in 2007 and be reporting those findings back to the stakeholder committee to determine if any remedial action is required.”

     First and foremost, it's very important for us to have an understanding of the enhancing of some of the customer surveys that have obviously gone on but, with this additional element, have an understanding of the receptivity of customer interests with the bill inserts.

     I don't think we're ignoring in any way conducting focus groups or customer surveys, and as you've alluded to, the communication package covers off a number of elements at the back of what we're doing to make sure that we are communicating with the customer on the bill refresh, which is a part of the separate element, but obviously what's going on with bill inserts.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm moving on to paragraph 3, which is pricing.  As I understand it, the pricing is based on a minimum bid and the minimum bid is built up in Exhibit JT.5, at page 5, which basically says, of the 4-cent minimum bid, the only costs that you've included as part of that 4 cents is the incremental mailing and production costs.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think you need to take into account that the incremental mailing costs - that’s what we'll call a fixed cost for the bill - so that cost is a fixed cost that takes the bill from one postal category to the next.  It's not like every bill insert that you put in there will incur that 2 cents cost.

     So the first bill insert covers that fixed cost, and then the costs over and above that get allocated.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Get allocated to what?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  To that cost category.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  But beyond that, there are no other costs allocated to the inserts?  Everything else you've characterized as margin?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  And I believe we did cover that in the Technical Conference with respect to our interpretation of the fully allocated costs.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I remember the debate.  

Am I understanding in particular from some of your undertaking responses that you believe that the bill insert service as you've proposed has been fully allocated?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Fully allocated costing analysis.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Even though it includes only incremental costs?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, and I think we covered that at the Technical Conference, and Mr. McGill spoke to what we believe was a comparable methodology with the RCAM and the treatment of indirect fixed costs.  That was page 219.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Did I tell you I was going to try not to get into RCAM, particularly since RCAM is in some sense a contested issue in the Corporate Cost Allocation Consultative.  We just received a report on that - but also the Tech Conference - you'll agree with me that when we talked about your attempt to create a fully allocated cost analysis of billing services in general, that -- Ms. Lakatos-Hayward and some of the financial people at Enbridge who did it -- and that you didn't, in fact, apply RCAM; you did your own internal allocation exercise, even though - and this is from the transcript of the tech conference at page 222, lines 3 to 8:  
"It was in discussion with our financial analysis group who probably - and myself included - are not overly familiar with the RCAM methodology."


So that was the allocation exercise you went through, as I understand it?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.  And the reference to the RCAM is with respect to treatment of sunk costs or indirect fixed costs.  And in this regard, you've got a bill that is going out, anyway, so the key question is:  What do you allocate to bill inserts from a cost perspective?  


So if you think of the bill as a sunk cost, and the bill mailing and bill production associated with that, the key question is:  What is the fair allocation of costs for incremental bill inserts?


And our belief is that, in that regard, the incremental costs associated with the mailing is the appropriate allocation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're not qualified as an expert in cost allocation, are you?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, I'm not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I will say that we recognize that with respect to the costing, that this was an issue that the consultative did go back and forth on.  And that's why you see, in the partial settlement, the agreement for the costing and pricing to hire a consultant to properly look at both components:  What is the appropriate pricing?  What is the appropriate costing in regards to that service?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So for the purposes of the next two years, the participants to the settlement proposal have agreed that they'll live with your cost analysis as long as it ends up with a minimum price of 4 cents for them; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the people who actually signed on to the settlement are -- apart from Enbridge - and this is in the settlement proposal at page 5 - are Direct Energy, who I think we can all agree really want to use bill inserts and are likely to use it franchise wide, the full 1.6 or so million bill inserts available -- or, sorry, the distribution, the largest distribution; Union Energy, who I think was described as the second largest player in the furnace and/or water heater rental marketplace, subject to check.  I can't remember exactly how they were characterized, but they were characterized at least once or twice as “number two”; and Ontario Energy Savings Limited Partnership, I think is the acronym, who I believe are a marketer, who are prohibited from using bill inserts.


Is that correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And none of those parties are representative of ratepayer groups who would have an interest, for example, in recovering fully allocated costs as part of their rate structure; correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  None of these are ratepayer groups.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And they also have an interest in keeping the prices down; correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think that they're looking for fair pricing for a service that's provided.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But to the extent ‑‑ for every cent the price goes down, at least two of those companies, if they're using the inserts, are saving money, as opposed to spending money?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  If they are using the service.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If they are using the service.  Thank you.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, going on to a ratepayer benefit, you've proposed a 50/50 sharing of the net margin, which is, I guess, everything above 2 cents?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we've gone through how the customers who are paying for the service and are the subject of the service, in the sense that they're the ones who are ‑‑ sorry, not paying for the service.  The people who are actually receiving the bill inserts react to the bill insert service.  And I think the numbers are 48 percent think you shouldn't be able to do it in the first place; 66 percent think that if you do it, you'll be making the marketplace more confusing for them; and 66 percent believe that you're recommending service providers that are qualified, even though, for the most part, you're not.


Can you explain to me why, after all that, you should be able to share 50/50 in a program that does all that to consumers?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, I think that what you've done, Mr. Buonaguro, is just point out the negative.  And I appreciate that that's your prerogative, but I think that what we would perhaps like to respond with, that there's a lot of benefits for customers, as well, in that we are providing ‑‑ or helping them connect and providing information to them on natural gas appliance products and services.


To the extent of the 50/50 sharing, we believe that this program is a partnership between ratepayers and the shareholder.  There is effort required to deliver the program from management to work with the third parties, to execute the contracts, and to really, just in general, have that, you know, creativity to bring forward these kinds of programs.


So in that regard, we do believe that it's appropriate for a 50/50 earnings sharing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's 50/50 sharing on a net margin that's based on purely incremental costing?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, I think ‑‑


MR. BUONAGURO:  Putting aside the fact that you've characterized it as a fully allocated analysis, the actual costing includes only incremental costs; correct? 


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, as I tried to explain earlier, the 2 cents that is allocated for the costs -- let's assume that you have a bill that has five bill inserts.  You're not recovering 2 cents for that bill; you're recovering 10 cents.


So it goes over and above that incremental cost for the mailing.  So I don't think I can agree with that calculation that we're just covering the incremental costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So does that money become part of the margin?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, we're allocating that to the costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  To the incremental costs?  I mean, where does the money go?  Does it get applied against rates?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  In our proposal, that was our estimate of the cost.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're telling me that you're over-collecting your incremental costs; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  To that extent, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you can't actually tell me where the money goes.  If you're over-collecting them, then there's a pot of money out there that's not part of the margin.  So it's not being split 50/50 on your proposal, and I don't see it showing up in rates anywhere.  


I'm just curious as to where it's going.  I mean, in fairness, if I look at JT ‑‑ the updated JT.5, you do put in some start‑up costs, which have zero cents, and ongoing EGD costs, which are at zero cents.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think that's a rounding error -- well, not rounding error.  It's just so small that two decimal places doesn't look like ‑‑


MR. BUONAGURO:  But does that mean that the 2 cents that you're collecting for incremental is going to pay those incremental costs? 


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, what we have allocated there is 2 cents of incremental mailing and production costs.  So to the extent that there is overage of the costs or we've over-collected the costs, that we would return that to ratepayers over and above the net margin.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Now, in terms of -- back to fully allocating costs.  When I started my cross, we talked about some of the benefits of having a bill insert in an Enbridge bill as opposed to some other method of delivery, and I think it's fair to say that ‑‑ I believe the three things I mentioned were you have to open the bill; that the bill is targeted to a person who's actually responsible for paying a gas bill, so it's a gas consumer who's actually responsible for gas purchase; and also that to the extent that people opted out of the bill insert service, you're not wasting bill inserts on people who don't want them and you're also not wasting bill inserts promoting gas appliances to people who don't have gas or don't have responsibility for gas purchases, presumably because they're not responsible for the gas bill.

     You keep track of all that with your CIS system; right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, I believe so.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  But you haven't allocated any of the costs of the CIS system to the bill insert service, even though you're providing value to the bill insert service using your CIS system?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, we have not.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  

Now, we talked -- the opt-out provision has come up a few times.  Can you explain what the current situation with opt-outs?  As I understand it, people can call in if they really don't like bill insert service.  If they don't want to get Direct Energy, for example, bill inserts, they can call up Enbridge, and you guys will work it out with them.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  We will not send them any marketing inserts going forward.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And I understand from your communications plan that you're working on that opt-out process and you're adding to it.  Can you explain that?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  What we're looking at doing is adding some functionality, some self-service functionality for customers to go into our website and be able to fill in a fairly simple form, submit that through to us.  And our service provider will take that and update their record, and going forward, they will no longer receive the marketing inserts, and it will be communicated to customers on how to do that.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I'm almost done.  Would it be possible to take the morning break so I can review my notes now, if it's an appropriate time, just to make sure?

     MR. KAISER:  Fifteen minutes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

     --- Recess taken at 10:51 a.m.

‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:18 a.m.

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Before Mr. Buonaguro resumes, I think we appear to have reached agreement on the argument schedule:  Argument in‑chief, which is written on March 15th; staff submissions on March 20th; intervenor argument on Friday, March 30th; oral reply Friday, April 13th.


We will continue to reserve as hearing dates the 22nd and 23rd of March to either hear a settlement proposal on corporate cost allocation and customer care/CIS, or, alternatively, to start the examination ‑‑ or to set a schedule for the examination, I should say, on the evidence in those two matters.  So we'll continue to hold those two days for that purpose.


Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sir, did I hear the 22nd and 23rd, both days would be reserved for ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  I should add, just to correct the record earlier, when we were talking about submissions on interim costs, as it were, in light of the explanation that you've offered in terms of what takes effect on April 1st, I don't think that will be necessary.


MR. VLAHOS:  Just on the customer care.


MR. KAISER:  You will recall earlier I said in argument we'd like submissions on an interim amount, but given that the April 1st amount is the settled amount, that's not necessary.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO (CONTINUED):

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I actually have two questions left.  The first relates to a question I asked Direct Energy yesterday, and I think there was actually an undertaking on it, but I thought you might be the quicker way of getting the answer.


I got the impression from them that they believed, as part of the bill insert service, that they could send inserts only to their customers on the bill.  So, for example, they have 1.3 million water heater rentals which are being billed through Enbridge on the open bill service, and they seem to believe that they could send bill inserts to just those people to update them with respect to conditions and warranties, or things specific to customers.  


Is that a service that you're providing? 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  My understanding of your question was:  How could Direct Energy communicate things like rate changes or other communication to its existing customers?


We believe that that will be better accommodated through a bill message.  In the case of Direct Energy or any other third party who would be signing a billing and collections agreement with the company, you may recall that on the bill -- the bill is being redesigned to, again, improve clarity of third parties; and all third‑party charges are on the back page, so they are completely segregated from Enbridge Gas Distribution.


The right‑hand side of the bill is being dedicated for bill messages.  So those kinds of communication to their existing customers as to, Your rates are changing, or other terms and conditions in their contract they need to communicate, we believe that that would be a better way to communicate that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So the bill insert service isn't targeting customers of people on the bill?  They should be using the bill messaging to do that?  That's how I understand that.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, that would be correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


Lastly, when I was going through the survey information that you provided with respect to how your customers react or what your customers believe about referrals from Enbridge and so on, one of the things ‑‑ one of the surveys I looked at was the EnergyLink public opinion study, because parts of it have to do with what customers believe about ‑‑ or how customers rely on Enbridge for referrals with respect to appliances, and so on and so forth.


In the header or the first paragraph of that study -- and the study appears at Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 17.  I preface this with ‑‑ this is actually, I think, an EnergyLink question, but I just noticed it yesterday, so I hope you'll forgive me.


It refers to, in the very first paragraph on the first page:

"Qualitative research to understand how the company's association with the new HVAC contract referral service program fit with the Enbridge brand architecture."


So it refers to a study there having to do with the EnergyLink brand name and the Enbridge brand architecture.


I don't recall seeing that in the evidence.  Was that study ever filed in this proceeding?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, it was not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you think you could do that, even though it's not a bill insert question?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I don't see any problem with that.  This was some focus groups, as it indicates there, that we had undertaken in January 2006 to test what would be, you know, an appropriate name for EnergyLink.  We tested that, the association with the brand, et cetera.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So I think that's an undertaking to provide the research.


MR. MILLAR:  J14.4.


UNDERTAKING NO. J14.4:  PROVIDE RESEARCH FROM FOCUS 

GROUPS

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. GREEN:  Excuse me, Mr. Millar, was that J14.4?


MR. MILLAR:  That's what I have, unless I'm, again, mistaken.


MR. GREEN:  No, I just hadn't heard the number.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, yes, it's J14.4.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  

Mr. Warren, do you have any questions?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  I have just a very few, sir.


Panel, just by way of one follow‑up to a series of questions which my friend Mr. Buonaguro asked you, could you turn up, please, the document which is called "Bill Inserts"?  It's prepared by Ipsos, and it's marked as Exhibit D1, tab 11, schedule 14.  We had it up on the screen earlier.  It was a series of bar graphs.  

I'm looking at page ‑‑ sorry, Exhibit D1, tab 11, schedule 4.  I'm not sure it's paginated, but there are three pages in the package and it looks like that.

[Indicates]


MR. GREEN:  We have it, Mr. Warren.  I think it's down at the bottom-right ‑‑ I believe it's page 3.  What's on the screen now, sir?


MR. WARREN:  Yes, it's on the screen now.  Thanks.


I know less about survey methodology than I know about being a lawyer, which is, indeed, a very small amount of knowledge.  And my question relates to the third of the bar graphs which says:

"Inserts for natural gas appliance/equipment contractors or retailers/suppliers tell me about qualified suppliers that Enbridge recommends."


And you have the numbers that Mr. Buonaguro -- as I read that, sir, there's no ‑‑ that's a statement of fact, isn't it, the answer to tell me something?  There's nothing normative about that or prescriptive.  It doesn't say that's a good thing that they tell me.  It just says the obvious:  They tell me.  

Am I reading it incorrectly?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, it's an agreement of that statement that was put forward.  So ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  I agree that the document tells me something?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  But you take from it that that's something normative about that, that it's a good thing that it tells me about it.  Is that your interpretation of what the statement means?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, when I look at the question below -- and, you know, perhaps this is more telling:

"Inserts in the Enbridge bill help make me more aware of suppliers available."


You know, I see there that 16 percent strongly agree and 45 percent somewhat agree.


So I think in that -- I would interpret that as, you know, being more aware of suppliers is a good thing.  I would agree.  That's my interpretation.


MR. WARREN:  So you would ask ‑‑ your interpretation is you want to twin or combine bar graphs 3 and 4 to derive the conclusion that telling them is a good thing.  


Let me take you to the one before that, which says:

"Enbridge should not allow inserts for natural gas appliances."  


If I twin 2 and 3, then having them tell me about it is something they shouldn't do.  Is it not equally fair to twin those two?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Again, my interpretation is that the inserts may make customers more aware of suppliers, and my interpretation is that customers think that this is a good thing.

     MR. WARREN:  Thanks, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward.  I have your answer.  I take it that we can agree on some basic points, Panel, and that is that Enbridge now sends out bills and that the cost of doing so is a cost which is recovered from ratepayers.  Is that correct?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.

     MR. WARREN:  And you propose to insert, if this proposal is approved, bills from third parties, but the costs are to be recovered from those third parties; is that right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Could you repeat that one more time?

     MR. WARREN:  You're proposing with this proposal to insert in the bills inserts from third parties, and you're going to recover the costs of doing so from those third parties; is that right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.

     MR. WARREN:  And none of the cost of the bill insert program is to be recovered from ratepayers; is that right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.

     MR. WARREN:  You're not seeking any approval in this case for an increment to the rates that ratepayers pay in order to cover the cost of this; is that correct? 

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We're not seeking an increment to rates.

     MR. WARREN:  My question, then, is if you could explain to me the nature of the relief which is being sought.  

And let me put this proposition to you.  Is it the case that you feel the Board's approval for this proposal is required because you propose to use ratepayer assets in order to generate revenue, some of which will go to the shareholder?  Is that why you're seeking the approval of the Board for this?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, just by way of context coming from the 2006 rate case, when this whole program started, it was a collective Open Bill Access, and in that the Board asked the company to come forward with a plan for this rate case as to how will we open up the access to the bill.

     So this partial settlement, in conjunction with the 

Open Bill Access, we believe, responds to that Board's direction.

     MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that answer, and you're reminding me of the context, but the specific approval that you require for the bill inserts, does it arise from the fact that you would be using utility assets to generate revenue, some of which would go to the shareholder?  Is that the reason why?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I would agree that we are seeking the Board's approval to -- this would be a utility service, and that we are seeking or part of the settlement proposal is seeking approval of the sharing mechanism.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, in seeking the Board's approval, I take it that you want the Board to approve the content of the proposal as it's embodied in the partial settlement; is that correct?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, if I could just in that context ask you to turn up the partial settlement, which for the record is Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix D.  I'm going to take you to item 8, which appears on page 3 of 6.

     If I look at item 8, it says:

“The company will establish a stakeholder committee that includes users of the insert service, as well as ratepayer and industry representatives, to review the rules associated with participation in the insert services."

     May I assume from that statement that there are rules for participation in the insert service which exist now?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  The rules are set out in the contract in the way that the RFP process was proposed to be run.

     MR. WARREN:  Is the contract attached to the partial settlement or otherwise in the record?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, it is not.

     MR. WARREN:  So are you asking the Board, by necessary implication, to approve the contract which you propose to use for the bill insert service?

     And let me -- sorry, so that you understand the context of it, there's no magic in what I'm doing.  I just want to know if you're asking the Board to approve a set of rules which the Board hasn't seen.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I understand what you're asking.  

We have filed the draft contract in schedule 27 and 28.  

Obviously time has passed and we have not sent the RFP out, so there are specific dates that are no longer relevant.  But with respect to how the contract is being drafted, those would be the rules that we would be putting in place for the bill insert service.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, just to follow on a little further from that.  As I understood an answer you gave to 

Mr. Buonaguro, one of the rules is that Enbridge reserves the right to approve the content of the bill insert.  Is that right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  And we do that today with respect to the pilot; and in the past, when Direct Energy was utilizing the envelope for its bill inserts, we approved the bill so that there was no promotion of, let's say, electric water heaters or other products that competed with natural gas.

     MR. WARREN:  But it went a little further than that.  As I understood your answer to Mr. Buonaguro, you will not approve an insert in which, for example, Carrier says, We're better than Direct.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We would go back to that third party and ask them to review that content and change it.

     MR. WARREN:  Can I then conclude that you're asking the Energy Board to approve rules which would give you editorial control over the content of the inserts?  Is that fair?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, we are.  The company's position is that this is Enbridge Gas Distribution's bill and that we need to exercise the prudent management of that bill accordingly.

     MR. WARREN:  The number I heard yesterday - and correct me if I’m wrong - is that the forecast revenue in 2007 from the bill insert service is some $3.6 million in, of which, under the proposed sharing mechanism, 1.8 would go to ratepayers?  Did I understand those numbers correctly?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  That was the update to the undertaking.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, can I assume that that estimate of revenue is based on a reasoned belief that there's a demand for this service, that people want it and they're going to use it?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  In the undertaking, we were asked what would be the maximum possible revenue from that service.  That was the context of the 3.6 million.  

As to what -- I'm sorry, as to what the service demand would be, we will not be in a position to know what that is until we proceed with the RFP to the marketplace and see what the results of the demand are.  I can say from the pilot that there certainly was demand out there for the service.

     MR. WARREN:  I assume that you wouldn't put forward a figure like $3.6 million unless you thought there was some reasonable belief that that number could be achieved, or something like it; is that fair?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I just want to make sure that when I'm using the $3.6 million, that it's not being taken out of context.

     We were responding to an interrogatory from Direct that asked what was the maximum revenue available.  If you look at JT5 in table 8, this was the company's projection of -- for total revenue for the service.  And in that we had assumed two bill inserts would be purchased per month, across the system.  And that revenue number was $1.6 million.

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry, my note of your testimony yesterday was that the ratepayers’ portion of the revenue was $1.8 million.  Do I have that wrong?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think that the context in maybe which that was read was incorrect.  That was an undertaking that we were asked to file from Direct Energy as to what the maximum possible revenue from the service was.  


I think it's pretty clear in JT.5 that the revenue that we have put forward there, we've assumed two bill inserts per bill per month.









Now, that being said, if there is more bill inserts that are purchased, then the associated revenue and costs would flow into the deferral account.


MR. WARREN:  There's no attempt to trick anybody here, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward.  As we sit here today, do you have an estimate for 2007 of what revenue is likely to be generated by the bill insert program?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  It's in JT.5.


MR. WARREN:  Okay, and it's the $1.6 million?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That was our estimate, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Of which $800,000 would go to the ratepayers, or less?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, there's ‑‑ in table 8, we break out what the revenue and what the costs are.  We had estimated the ratepayer benefit of $484,573.


MR. WARREN:  Now, going back to the other ‑‑ to my original line of questions, is that from the pilot there is interest in this program; correct?


MR. GREEN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And is it fair for me to assume that since you've got bills going out already that ratepayers are paying for and there's interest in the program, that this is essentially a risk‑free proposition for Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I'm not sure that I can agree that it's risk‑free.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, in the interests of time, let me put this proposition to you:  As a layperson not familiar with the economics, obviously, of this business, you are ‑‑ all of the costs will be recovered from the users.  There is an interest from the users to use it.  And it strikes me that in what would appear on the surface to be a ‑ let's use the modifier - relatively risk‑free business, where there is no investment by Enbridge, that a return of 50 percent seems very generous.  


Would you not agree with that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I wouldn't agree that it's overly generous.  We believe that that is fair.


Again, I think that risk is one aspect, but the other aspect is:  What does the company have to expend with respect to developing the program, managing the program, in order to achieve the ratepayer benefits?  In that regard, we believe that the 50/50 sharing is fair.


MR. WARREN:  Even when people appear to be falling over themselves to get through the door to use this service?  It doesn't look like you have to work very hard, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward.  Is that fair of me?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, Mr. Warren, I think earlier you said that you don't like to trap people, and sometimes I feel that you do.


I think that the company does ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Oh, how unkind of you, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward.  I'm wounded.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  So I think that the way that I would characterize it is that there is interest in the service, but there is certainly -- in order to achieve, you know, the maximum ratepayer benefit and the shareholder benefit, that the company will have to expend some level of effort to go out into the marketplace and to generate that interest.


MR. WARREN:  One area of questions, briefly, to conclude.


I take it that we can agree, panel, that the bill inserts, that the bill itself, is a critical mechanism ‑ indeed, perhaps the critical mechanism ‑ for conveying essential information to your customers about safety issues, about rates.  Is that fair on my part?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  The company believes that the bill is a very important communication tool, and that is why the customer communication plan, you know, we've thought ‑‑ or put a lot of thought into development of that, so that this can be implemented in a way that clearly explains to customers who the third parties are on the bill, what are the changes coming forward on the bill, in general, in 2007.


MR. WARREN:  And I take it that the reason for that is that it's essential that your customers not be confused between ‑ excuse my pejorative term – junk, on the one hand, and critical information, on the other hand.  It's important that there not be that confusion; correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It's important that they understand the difference between our safety, regulatory notices, marketing messages.  

The other aspect is there are third‑party companies as part of this proposal.  So we want to make sure that customers understand who these are versus who Enbridge Gas Distribution is.


MR. WARREN:  Now, you have in your partial settlement a proposal or term whereby, if there is safety information included in the bill, the number of bill inserts will be reduced to five.  Have I caught that correctly?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, first of all, the maximum number of inserts that can go into the bill under this proposal was how many?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It is seven.


MR. WARREN:  What's the magic in reducing seven to five in order to ensure that the critical safety information is read and understood?


MR. GREEN:  I don't think there was any magic determination, Mr. Warren, to drive it from the seven additional inserts down to five.  That was one element, as far as the number that goes.


And the other element of consideration in the communication package is making sure that certainly our messages for safety or for rate implementation also have even a physical appearance for differentiation inside the bill that identifies it differently, if you will, from the marketing or third‑party insert.


But, specifically, there wasn't anything magic to go, Well, let's just reduce it by two to see how that works out.  I think we tried to explain that certainly through the interim period, a lot of customer survey, a lot of interaction with the stakeholder committee, to make sure that we're clear on messages, et cetera, on the content of it, and what will work out as far as going through that interim period as to how the customers are responding to the program.


MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Shepherd.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I just have a few brief questions, mostly by way of clarification, I guess.


I wonder if you can put up on the screen JT.5, which is the one we were looking at earlier.  That's it.


I just want to clarify.  You were talking about the question of whether you were over-collecting incremental cost.  I'm looking at this table 7 here and I'm wondering, which is the number you think is the real number?  The $392,000 number, is that what you actually expect this service to cost this year, or is it the 2 cents per bill that you actually expect it to cost?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  So in derivation of the costs, the 600,715, we have assumed 2 cents per bill insert.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't actually forecast how much it is going to cost you to have bill inserts in the bill this year?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That was some information that we received from ABSU about the mailing costs.  So because we are, at this point, unsure about the number of bill inserts that we were going to receive on a monthly basis, we just assumed 2 cents per bill insert, regardless, so that we could, no matter what, recover those incremental costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, sorry.  I asked my question inelegantly, and I'm really just trying to get clarification.


You got your 2-cent number and you got your $392,000 number on table 7.  Two cents times the number of inserts you expect for the year equals $392,000; right?


MS. CAIN:  My apologies.  I was looking at the wrong table.  I was looking at table 8.


Yes, the incremental mailing and production costs, we took 2 cents per bill insert, and that is -- the forecast cost of that is $392,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's just multiplication; right?  2 cents times the number of inserts you expect; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So did you start with 2 cents, and then get $392,000, or did you start with $392,000, divide by the number of inserts, and get 2 cents?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, we used 2 cents per bill insert.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you don't actually know what it's going to cost.  The $392,000 is not a real number; right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  It is our forecast, as I indicated, that we did receive from ABSU what would be the incremental mailing cost to deliver the bill inserts.

     We didn't have a perfect sense now as to how many bill inserts per month were going to be, so we reallocated the 2 cents for each bill insert.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, I'm a little bit confused.  ABSU told you the first insert costs 2 cents, and after that they cost zero; right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Mm-hm.  Mm-hm.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You then used 2 cents for all of them?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then that $392,000 is too high; right?  That's not what it's really going cost you?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  There would be an overcollection of those costs, and as I've explained, that those would be put into the deferral account and returned to ratepayers.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, actually half of them would go to you; right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, that's not my understanding.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't the deferral account work that you figure out how much is collected during year, the revenue, you deduct the actual costs and you split the difference?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  In this proposal, this is what we've assumed the cost to be in that these costs would be returned to ratepayers.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What happens if the actual costs are a million dollars?  How does that affect the share?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I don't believe that they will be a million dollars.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  400,000 instead of 392,000.  The number's irrelevant.  I'm trying to get the mechanism.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  If the costs were higher, we would look to be taking that out of the net margin.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  First, before it's split?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if the costs are lower, then what happens?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  If the costs are lower, then what we're doing is returning -- I guess there's a bit of an asymmetry here in that we're returning the 2 cents.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, none of this, what you're saying, is in the settlement, is it?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, I don't believe it is.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

     Mr. Warren asked you a question about - I think it was Mr. Warren - whether Direct Energy can - or maybe it was 

Mr. Buonaguro - target bill inserts to their own customers.  And you said that is not the best way to do it; the best way to do it is through bill messages.  I understand that, but I'm not sure you answered the actual question, which is:  Can the system actually do that, target bill inserts to specific customers of Direct Energy, for example?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I believe that they do that today.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  They do.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  As part of their historical arrangement with CWLP, they made investments, their own, into the CIS.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's only for Direct Energy, then?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  For Direct Energy, as I said, they had made their own investment in the CIS.  Another third party can make a similar investment.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought this proposal was for a bill insert service which was the same for everybody.  It's not?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, I don't think that ...

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  With respect to Direct Energy, I don't think that we have determined yet that aspect.  We know today that they do target their own specific customers.  We believe that they would like to continue to do so.  What we have put into place through the partial settlement is a mechanism that third parties can bid on a per-bill insert basis.

     The company has not made -- or has a position as to whether or not Direct Energy would be allowed to continue to targeting their own customers if they wish.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Should the Board in considering the bill insert proposal assume that the rules are the same for everybody, or that Direct Energy will have different rules?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  The trouble that we're having with this is that there's an historical context which perhaps is important to recognize.  That is, Direct Energy has made its own investment in the system.

     If a third party wished to make a similar investment, then we would look to try and accommodate them as part of a customized service.

     What we're offering is an ability to go down to a targeted geographical area to accommodate other parties on the bill.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  First of all, that's not responsive to my question.  And my question was a very simple one:  Should the Board assume the same rules for Direct Energy and everybody else, or different rules?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  In this particular area, the company would ask that an exception be made for Direct 

Energy.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the reason for that is because during a period when they had a five-year agreement -- which has since expired; right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That specific agreement has expired, yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In the period when they had a five-year agreement that has now expired, they'd made an investment to have a certain way of having their bill inserts distributed; right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That investment includes making physical changes to a CIS to accommodate them.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the CIS that you're currently replacing.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Two other brief questions.

     You told Mr. Buonaguro that it's not your plan to pre-screen the providers of bill inserts.  You were going to pre-screen the content but not who they are; right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That was correct.  In the consultative process, this was never discussed as something that we should be looking at.  Again, our position is it's something that we're willing to look at but, again, would like to do that in consultation with the stakeholder committee.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell me if this is right.  If you have a top contractor -- Mr. Grochmal, who was in here giving evidence, I think you've said that you wouldn't let him put in an insert saying:  We're the best contractor in the GTA.  Even if he can show that he is, you wouldn't let him put that in; right?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think in that regard that 

"We're the best contractor in the GTA," we wouldn't...

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We wouldn't have a problem with that.  If they're saying choose us, don't choose Direct Energy, and we see a lot of advertising right now amongst the different water-heater rental providers - don't choose Direct Energy, choose us - I think that's the kind of language that we would be uncomfortable about.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you wanted to put in a bill insert that had one of those little checkmarks and it had ISO 9000 certified; tick him, yes; but tick Direct Energy, no; Union Energy, no; whoever else no; and had a list and ticked off all their advantages compared to the others, you wouldn't let them do that?

MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  As much as, again, the trouble I have with that is that's that billing party's interpretation.  I think the other third parties might have a very different interpretation.  

You've used the example of ISO 9000.  That's pretty cut and dried, but a lot of the other things you see in marketing are not so cut and dried.     

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, on the other hand, your current proposal to this Board is that if Joe's HVAC, who everybody agrees is a fly-by-night operation, wants to sell $1,200 furnaces that it turns out are actually made out of cardboard, you're not going to stop them, because you're not going to pre-screen them at all?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, what we've indicated is that it's something that we can certainly look at if the Board feels that it's appropriate for us to do so.  That was not part of our proposal.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question is, just a brief clarification on opt-out.  You were asked some questions from Mr. Buonaguro about opt-out.  I take it that a person can opt out of everything except the Enbridge messages.  They can't opt out of your DSM messages, right, or your EnergyLink messages?


MR. GREEN:  Subject to check, Mr. Shepherd, I think they can.  What we're saying is they can opt out of all marketing messages.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they could opt out of Pipeline, for example?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No.


MR. GREEN:  No, because I think ‑‑ again, as I've said, subject to clarification, I think that --


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  "Pipeline" is our generic ‑‑


MR. GREEN:  Public communications vehicle.  Rate information, obviously the safety messages.  The Pipeline one I'm not sure about, because it's not classified...


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, my understanding is that customers cannot opt out of the Pipeline newsletter, but they can opt out of -- if there are bill inserts on water heating, you know, they can opt out of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm looking at Pipeline, and it has "Keep your meter clear" and ‑ this is the most recent one ‑ "Are you planning to move?", "Carbon monoxide Safety."  This is all good stuff.  It also has some DSM tips:  Here's how you look after your house to reduce your heating costs.  And it has "Finding a qualified natural gas contractor has just become easier", which we know where that comes from.


So the user can't opt out of that; right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, this is a customer service-type bill insert.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are my questions -- oh.


Those are my questions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I do have some questions.  I'd probably prefer them do them before lunch, if that's acceptable to you.


One other matter.  Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Buonaguro both referred to some bill inserts, and Mr. Buonaguro spoke with me privately and asked that we have those entered as an exhibit.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, that would be helpful.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, he only has one set, so maybe I'll ask him to make copies, or I guess we can ‑‑ we'll sort that out, but let's give it an exhibit number now.  It will be K14.1, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


EXHIBIT NO. K14.1:  SET OF FIVE BILL INSERTS

MR. BUONAGURO:  For clarification, it will be five inserts, not including my gas bill.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, five inserts?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Including the Pipeline newsletter that Mr. Shepherd was referring to?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chairman, would you like me to proceed?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Please go ahead.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, and good afternoon, panel.  My friends have touched on many of the issues that I was going to cross‑examine about, so I may be skipping about a little bit.


I'm going to only be referring to two documents, the proposed settlement and the Exhibit JT.5.  

I'll start with Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix D, which is, of course, the proposed partial settlement.  And if we could have page 2, please.


Under “Pricing”, you'll see the last sentence says:

"Parties agree that prices for the insert services and any changes thereto from time to time must be approved by the Board."


So I assume you're envisioning some type of hearing process to deal with any changes?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I guess this ties into issue 2 above, which is the comprehensive solution that will be ‑‑ looks like you're looking to file that in 2008?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Prior to the 2000 ‑‑ sorry, prior to the end of 2008.  It's our anticipation that the pricing would cover the interim period of 2007 and 2008, and that we would come forward before the end of 2008 with a comprehensive plan that talked about the elements in section 2 there.


MR. MILLAR:  Has any thought been given to how this will fit in with incentive regulation?  Is this going to ‑‑ I forget what an off-ramp and an X factor -- there's a number of ways you can change rates through an incentive regulation program.  Has any thought been given as to how this particular program will fit into that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We had discussed as part of the stakeholder ‑‑ our stakeholder process, and we have had some general conversations with our regulatory group.


The difficulty that we have is that, to the best of my knowledge, the incentive regulation process still is fairly ‑‑ has a ways to go to be developed, you know, things like how deferral accounts get cleared, and there's really a lot of uncertainty at this point.


So we would look to find ways how we could accommodate that in the ‑‑ as part of the IR process, but we don't have any definitive direction yet.


MR. MILLAR:  There's an IR -- either a hearing or a process of some type coming up later this year at the Board.  Is this something that will be raised through that proceeding?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I believe that we will have to; particularly, gains through things like clearance of deferral accounts.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  

Number 4 is costing and pricing.  This is similar to what we had in the open bill settlement, where the company will retain an independent consultant.  And it says these costs will go into the Open bill service deferral account; is that correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.  It mirrors largely the language from the open bill access ‑‑ or billing collection services settlement.


MR. MILLAR:  So this will ‑‑ well, let me ‑‑ if we look at start‑up costs, the start-up costs will also go into the deferral account?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's right.  And we will have to, in definition of that deferral account, have different cost items so that we can track the elements.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, let me just make sure I'm clear as to exactly what will go into this open bill services deferral account.  We've already confirmed that there will be the start-up costs and this costing study, the costs of that.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MILLAR:  And then I guess the offset to that will be the revenues that come in for ‑‑


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  ‑‑ this service?  

What about any other incremental costs?  Are any other costs going into this account?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I believe the incremental costs that we've talked about earlier would go into that.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, of course, when we discussed the open bill settlement, there are, in fact, other costs going into this same account, aren't there?  Aren't the start-up costs for open bill going into this account?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  So, again, we'd need some separate cost elements to be able to track.


MR. MILLAR:  And, of course, the costing study for open bill is also ‑‑ the pricing study would also go into this?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Can I put it to you this way:  Wouldn't it be easier just to have separate deferral accounts for these two items?  I see there's a lot of opportunity for confusion as how to how the benefit will be distributed.  The benefit is done differently for open bill than it is for bill inserts; is that correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, I think that that would be ‑‑ it would be reasonable to say a different deferral account.  It would likely make it easier to track the various elements.  

We are conscious of the fact, as well, about not having too many deferral accounts, so that was perhaps the rationale why we kept it at the one deferral account.  But I think I would agree with you that it would be easier from a tracking perspective to set up a separate one.


MR. MILLAR:  You would agree there's a chance of some confusion here with getting the numbers wrong?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So the company is not opposed to a separate deferral account for this item?  I don't know if Mr. Cass ‑‑ if you can confirm this or if Mr. Cass can.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, I can certainly ‑‑ and Mr. Bourke is looking down and probably is thinking about the extra work this is going to create for him.  But unless there are some dire objections from Mr. Bourke, I think I would ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I'll let you --


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm actually going to interrupt here, Mr. Chairman, because I'm not concerned about this particular point, but I think the company, actually having filed a partial settlement in which they've entered into a legal agreement with other intervenors, they're not allowed to say they agree with a different result at this point, as I understand the rules.  


And I think in this case, it's probably very sensible to do it, but I'd like to make sure that we don't set a precedent here by accident.


MR. MILLAR:  That's a fair comment, Mr. Shepherd, and I'd thought about that.  Maybe I should phrase the question differently to not have the company try and pull out of the agreement.


I guess maybe I'll just point out that an alternative for the Board or an option for the Board would be ‑‑ this is of course a partial settlement.  It's a joint position, if I can put it that way.  The Board may disagree with this particular element and order a separate deferral account.  I don't know if the company has any comment on that, but maybe I'll leave it at that.  It's on the record.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  And, sorry, it was not my intention to say anything incorrect about a partial settlement.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I didn't mean to put you on the spot like that, so I just wanted to ‑‑ so that possibility could be before the Board.


Okay, so let's imagine that the Board decided to do that.  Just to make sure I understand exactly what costs would go in there and how the incentive works, we've got the start-up costs and the costing study, and then incremental costs, and those are the costs that go into the account; is that correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Are there any other costs that go into the account?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Just so that I'm clear, we have the revenue, the incremental mailing and production costs, the start-up costs and the -- we have the margin component in the revenues.

     MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, could you please ...

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Sorry, the EGD and ratepayer margin and the revenues.

     MR. MILLAR:  Then what you do at the end of the day is you take the net amount and you split it in half, and half goes to the ratepayers and half goes to the shareholder?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, and our projected margin was 3 cents, according to JT7, so we would split that.

     MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, I'm having some difficulty hearing.  Could you repeat?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'm sorry, I'm turning my head away.  

On the table 7, the EGD and ratepayer margin, the forecast per-bill insert is 3 cents.

     MR. MILLAR:  When we add these numbers up to get the net amount - I think you've confirmed this before - the benefit to the ratepayer is the earnings sharing is $485,000, approximately?  

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  484,573.

     MR. MILLAR:  We see that on table 8 in front of us now.  

I guess the way you get that is you take the total revenue, which is just over 1 and a half million, and you subtract the total costs, which are about $600,000, and then the net revenue before sharing is $969,000.

     This is just occurring to me now:  Why aren't the numbers equal for the shareholder -- oh, it's a tax issue.  

Someone is whispering in my ear.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  I'll leave that.  But is it fair to say you have the total costs written down here.  The total costs do not include the costing and pricing study, do they?  

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, that's probably -- I'm hoping a fairly de minimus amount.

     MR. MILLAR:  When we say “de minimus,” do we mean 10,000, 20,000, 30, 50?  You tell me.  I have no idea what it would cost.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think I'd be in the same boat.  I don't think it would be a major cost element.

     MR. MILLAR:  There's no cap onto the cost in the settlement agreement, is there?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  My experience in using consultants is that we would be looking at something under 50,000.  But, again, I think we'd need to go through an 

RFP process and evaluate those costs.

     MR. MILLAR:  Without getting into the amount, it's fair to say that the ratepayer earnings sharing is overstated here by half the amount of the consultant; is that fair to say?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, I would agree with that.

     MR. MILLAR:  Again, when we look at the ratepayer benefit, which I guess you're predicting will be something less than $485,000, is this divided just amongst residential consumers or all consumers?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  This is for Rate 1 customers.

     MR. MILLAR:  How many Rate 1 customers are there?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I believe we answered that through the Technical Conference, but when we take out the number of customers who are opting out today, which is around 2,900, I believe - 2,600, sorry - it's about 1.63 million customers.

     MR. MILLAR:  Now, I did the math on that, and I may be wrong, but tell me if I'm in the ballpark here.  As a per-customer benefit, I got less than 30 cents a year.  Is my math wrong, or is it more or less correct?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I haven't done the math, and it's a fairly straightforward calculation, so I would assume ...

     I will point out that what we've assumed here is two bill inserts per month.  That may change if we get further uptick.

     MR. MILLAR:  But based on your filed evidence, it's somewhere around 30 cents per customer per year?  That's the benefit?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Based on two bill inserts.

     MR. MILLAR:  That's right.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that your typical ratepayer is not going to notice a 30-cent change to their bill?  If you're looking at a 1,200, 1,400 dollar bill a year, 30 cents you're probably not even going to notice; is that fair to say?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think that the difficulty that 

I'm having with that question is that as part of this rate case, we were asked to look at a number of incremental things that, when we look at the totality, might have a bigger impact.

     I think if you looked at any one impact or item, it might have a fairly small impact.  But I think what we're looking at is a customer service that we believe is providing value, and it does provide a ratepayer benefit.

     MR. MILLAR:  The value you refer to, I guess one of the values would be the incentive.  Is there something more to the value?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We believe that we are helping customers find out information on natural gas appliance providers, and that is a customer service value to them.

     MR. MILLAR:  Forgive me if I'm a little cheeky, but do you think ratepayers are currently underexposed to advertising?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I guess I will go back to some of the market research that we've done.

     [Witness panel confers] 

MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Subject to check, I believe 60 percent do read the bill inserts today and do believe that's of value.

     I think it will be up to the customer to determine whether they're over-advertised.

     MR. MILLAR:  I'll leave that at that.  

Is there any chance of there being a ratepayer loss from this program?  You say that the net proceeds will be split 50/50.  Is it possible that the net proceeds will, in fact, be a loss?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I don't believe so, no.

     MR. MILLAR:  It's not possible?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I don't believe so, no.

     MR. MILLAR:  No.

     If I can move on.  If we could go back to the draft settlement at page 3 of 6, the stakeholder input.  Again, we saw something very similar with the Open Bill settlement; is that correct?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Again, this will be on the ratepayer's dime; is that correct?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I believe, subject to check, when we went through the settlement for the billing and collection services, we were undetermined as to how this would continue in the future.  We have a consultative process today that we believe has been effective in improving regulatory efficiency.  We're evolving this now into a stakeholder committee.  We would like to proceed on that same basis, that this does provide a ratepayer benefit.

     MR. MILLAR:  So -– sorry.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  So it would be our position that a stakeholder committee would continue to be funded for ratepayers.

     MR. MILLAR:  Currently - correct me if I am wrong - the consultative, all the costs of all the parties in the consultative are being borne by the ratepayer; is that correct?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  For the Open Bill, subject to check, we've tried to limit it to be as efficient as possible as to external lawyers and/or consultant.

     MR. MILLAR:  Of course, but with that proviso that it is being paid for by ratepayers.  Do you have any idea what that account would be at by now?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Again, I'm just doing a back-of-the-envelope calculation, as I have reviewed the costs of the various parties to date.  Now, this is a committee that's gone on since May, and I don't believe I've approved more than $20,000.

     MR. MILLAR:  But that's not the full amount, I assume; there are --

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  It's seems to be fairly.

     MR. MILLAR:  I know you've been meeting up until very recently.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Actually, it has included up to the Technical Conference, I believe.  I can't say a hundred percent that all of the costs have come in, but at least what I've reviewed.

     MR. MILLAR:  And I guess, again, on the stakeholdering process going forward, there's no cap on the costs here in the settlement proposal?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  There is no cap in the settlement proposal.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

Just shifting gears a little bit.  The company now does electronic bills; is that correct?   E-bills.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  I assume you don't get inserts with an 

E-bill.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  They put the PDF of the bill insert adjacent to the electronic bill so a customer can see it and they can make the choice as to whether they open that. 

MR. MILLAR:  Companies who are using the electronic bill service, do they pay their fee for that or is that included? 


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Third parties would pay the same costs whether it's electronic bill ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, sorry.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  -- or paper.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  So it doesn't matter how many people shift to E-bill, then.  The revenues won't change because of that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Would the costs, though?  Is it cheaper to do it electronically than a paper bill?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We haven't looked into that.  I think there are certainly going to be some offsets.  Certainly you don't have the mailing costs, and that was primarily why E-bill was -- why the company has pursued E-bill in the first place.  There obviously are some IT costs to put the bill insert up, but I would suspect that they would be less than the offsetting mailing costs.


MR. MILLAR:  And Enbridge would get 50 percent of any savings from that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, I think what we've talked about today is that we have a 2-cents-per-bill insert.  So we would continue to flow that through.


MR. MILLAR:  But the net effect, I guess, would be you would get 50 percent of the savings?  The costs go down, so the deferral account is bigger and it's split 50/50?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We would still propose to flow the 2 cents through.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the answer is yes, that the ratepayer ‑‑ or I guess both the ratepayer and the shareholder will get half of the reduced costs for that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  If there is any savings on the E-bill, I guess what we're saying is that we would still be flowing 2 cents through to the costs, and that would go to ratepayers.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


I'm almost done.  If I can ask you to turn to page 4 of 6.  This is under 10, "Affiliate Participation", but the part I'm quoting is point A.  You see about the middle of page 4, it says:

"No person, whether affiliate or otherwise, may use or associate itself with any name or logo in the billing envelope that is the same as, similar to, or confusing with any name or logo that is associated with the company."


And the company is Enbridge.


So does that mean that you can't put the EnergyLink logo on your bill inserts?  


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We've made a distinction here that, with respect to affiliate participation, our interpretation is “affiliates of the company,” so that our position is that Enbridge Gas Distribution would be allowed to put in or to promote its EnergyLink service.  This is a customer service; it's a utility service.  


It's certainly our interpretation that what we're talking about is third parties here.  However, that being said, third parties -- so if we have an EnergyLink participant who would like to use the service, that they would not be allowed to use the EnergyLink logo.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, so they cannot use the EnergyLink logo?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can they say that they're part of EnergyLink on the bill insert?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think that in the example ‑‑ sorry, in the example that you've given me on the EnergyLink, I think they would be able to say they're part of EnergyLink, but they would not be allowed to reference the Enbridge Gas Distribution component of that.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, doesn't the EnergyLink logo ‑‑ isn't it purposely similar to the Enbridge logo?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, it's ‑‑ I wouldn't characterize it that way.  It's a very different logo.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree that EnergyLink is an Enbridge brand?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Sorry.  Just so that I'm clear, they wouldn't have the EnergyLink logo, because the EnergyLink logo is encapsulated ‑‑ EnergyLink approved, EnergyLink contractor, and then the Enbridge Gas Distribution.  


I think what I'm trying to say is that the third party would be allowed to say, you know, We're a member of EnergyLink, but would not be allowed to display the logo.


MR. MILLAR:  So you don't think that would be in violation of point A, because it says:

"... whether affiliate or otherwise, may use or associate itself with any name or logo that is the same as, similar to, or confusing with any name or logo that is associated with the company."


You don't think that would fall afoul of that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, I don't believe that that is the case.  

Again, in the example that you provided, it's EnergyLink.  So there's no -- there's no reference to Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


What about Enbridge Solutions?  Can they use the bill insert service?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  As this is ...


[Witness panel confers]


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  If we ‑‑ well, let me answer it in this way:  What that provision sets out is that the third party can ‑‑ or, sorry, the affiliate can use the service on the same terms; however, they would not be allowed to use the name or logo in the bill envelope that has the Enbridge name and swirl.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, Enbridge is the name, is it not?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, Enbridge name and swirl.


MR. MILLAR:  So I'm not clear.  That would suggest to me Enbridge Solutions cannot use the insert service?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Not if they are under the name Enbridge Solutions.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if they had a different name, then they might be able to use it?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


And what about a contractor who is using the bill insert service?  Would they be able to use the Enbridge Solutions name on their insert, for example, to suggest that, you know, financing may be available through Enbridge Solutions?  I assume that would be precluded, as well?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That would be our understanding.


MR. MILLAR:  Unless Enbridge Solutions had a different name?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's right.  So I think the example we've been using is EFS Inc., so they could use something like that.


MR. MILLAR:  Just give me one moment.


Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

MR. VLAHOS:  Panel, I have a couple of questions.  First of all, can you tell me, this sharing mechanism, what is the purpose of it?  Is it simply an incentive motive?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  This is ‑‑ well, the sharing mechanism, yes, it's an incentive mechanism.


MR. VLAHOS:  So, otherwise, the utility, it would not be in its interest to undertake or to propose such an activity, such an initiative?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  With respect to the bill inserts -- with respect to bill inserts, the company is looking for an incentive to bring forward innovative programs such as this.


MR. VLAHOS:  And if there was no incentive, then there would be no proposal to ...


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  If there was no incentive, I think we'd have to go back and really look at what the benefits versus the costs are.  It certainly would reduce ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  The benefits would still be there to the ratepayer, and the costs would be there, less than the benefits.  So are you talking from the shareholders' point of view?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  But the Board can direct the utility to undertake that initiative, can't it?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, they can.


MR. VLAHOS:  Now, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, it seems to me, as I heard the cross‑examination and the answers, that there's a lot of activity around this area, and I just wonder -- I'm just going to give you my impression, that perhaps the costs are being under-forecast going forward.


There's a lot of activity around participants, stakeholder committees, bringing matters before the Board on an interim basis more than on a comprehensive basis when you actually bring the matter back in a couple of years' time. 


And can you just satisfy me, at least, that the costs that you've anticipated are reasonable?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  We believe that when we look at the partial settlement, that there are the two areas for the costs, and one is the stakeholder committee.  And I think that committee, we would try and structure that to minimize the burden on the ratepayers.  
     The second component is the costing and pricing study.  

And what again we would do there is undertake an RFP to ensure that we're getting the best value for our money and making sure that when we come forward at the end of 2008, that we have the best determination that we can for costs going forward and the appropriate market price so that, again, we're deriving the maximum ratepayer value.

     Those would be the two areas that I would see there could be some cost pressure.

     MR. VLAHOS:  What about time spent in this room, the regulatory costs?  We have spent at least a couple of days.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  At least.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Or equivalent.  Have those been priced at all?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  These are, I believe, part of the regulatory account, the hearing account.

     MR. VLAHOS:  But you would agree they are costs associated with this specific proposal on bill inserts?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, they are, as with any proposal that the company brings forward.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Could staff put up JT.5, please, so we can have it there for reference?

     The 2 cents of costs per bill insert, again, is based on what?  It does not include the one-time costs or the regulatory costs; correct?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  The -- sorry, the one-time ...

     MR. VLAHOS:  The 2 cents per bill cost to the utility?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  If I understand the question correctly, I believe it does.  The costs of $600,000 includes the incremental mailing costs, the start-up costs as well as the ongoing EGD costs.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Are you reading from table 7?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  Table 7, and then how it flows through into table 8.

     MR. VLAHOS:  There was a question from, I believe it was, Mr. Millar that he was asking you whether it's possible to have a net loss.  You said absolutely not, or something to that effect.  

Somewhere here I noticed that there is a provision for half a person, or a .5 program manager you call it.  You call this position “at a fixed cost”.  I suggest that these are fixed costs of $55,000.  So theoretically, if you don't have any bill inserts, you still have some costs?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, I would agree that if we get no bill inserts, that would be the case.  

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  However, January ...

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I believe we have had one third-party bill insert in 2007 already.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I guess I was going with the concept that theoretically it is possible, since you have certain fixed costs associated with that initiative, that there may be a loss.  It may not be plausible, you're suggesting, but it is possible.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, I would agree.  We believe that it's highly improbable, given what we've seen on the pilot, and as we continue with that pilot, we are in discussions with another third party for a slot.

     I can also add that the half-program-manager, we haven't hired anyone yet, so we wouldn't look to add that until we really need that additional resource.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Finally, then.  And just to confirm that although, for the purpose of the test year, we're looking at revenue of $1.6 million, with .8 million going to ratepayers; that the maximum potential of this program is $3.6 million of revenue, with about half of that, so 1. -- if I can get the numbers correct.  Is it half of it that is to the ratepayers or 1.6?  Because it is the net revenue we're talking about.  Is the $3.6 million gross revenue or is it net revenue?  The maximum you gave us.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, that is net revenue.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Net revenue.  Okay.  Thank you.  

The maximum benefit to ratepayer would be half of that, $1.8 million?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  According to the partial settlement.  Sorry, the net revenue is $3.6 million, and in the partial settlement that we have proposed, a 50/50 sharing of that net revenue.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry.  I thought for 2007, for the test year, you had 1.6 million net revenue, of which .8 would be going to the ratepayers.  Where did I get that from?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Sorry.  The earlier reference to the 3.6 million - and I think we're all getting a little bit confused with the numbers here - we were asked to take an undertaking by Direct Energy as to what would be the maximum revenue from bill inserts.  And that is the $3.6 million.

     For the purpose of the forecast, that is in JT5, table 

8, and what we have built out here is what is the total revenue.  We have assumed that two-third parties participate on a given month for bill inserts, and the total revenue there is $1.569 million.

     MR. VLAHOS:  That last part is for the purposes of the 2007 rates?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And just to take you back a couple of sentences.  You said 3.6, in response to that interrogatory; you said “revenue.”  That's maximum revenue.  

Did you mean maximum revenue or maximum net revenue?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Maximum net revenue.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You said “revenue”; that's why I had to ask is the question again.  

All right.  Thank you very much for those answers.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Just one area, Mr. Chair.

     This would be in the settlement proposal, and I'm looking at the comprehensive solution.  I'm wondering if you could expand a little bit on the element that reflects what may or may not be in the consultants' reports that would be filed prior to the end of 2008 on the costing or, slash, market pricing on these elements.  

Are you in a position now to expand a little bit as to what you may put in an RFP as to the terms of reference in that area?

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  You’ve got me there.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Can you speak to the intent of what you're trying to explore or what you would have a consultant analyze to inform the Board, as this is coming back to the Board?  And I'm just wondering on what we'd be able to rely on in future to be able to take a look at this.

     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Really, the objective of the study would be to look at what would be the appropriate market price that could be generated from third parties accessing the bill insert service from the perspective of this is a competitive service; so what would be the maximum amount that we could charge to maximize the uptake by third parties?

     The other aspect would be, what would be the appropriate manner to have a fully allocated cost of these services, again, to come up with an appropriate net margin amount?

     I think it would also be reasonable to say that we would be looking at incentive sharing, the incentive sharing component of that through the study as well.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't want to get ahead of ourselves, but obviously, if you're going to market pricing, and depending on the values that have come through this, and depending on what we arrive at, you could eliminate the utility's costs from a regulated point of view, of putting out this bill?  Obviously, with the economies of scale, you could ‑‑ and depending on what scheme you came up with --


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's definitely a potential.  And I should also add that through the stakeholder committee, we had a lot of kind of back and forth on, if you're going through -- we believe an RFP, like a bidding process, is the appropriate way to do it, and there are various ways that from a ‑‑ that you can model that as to, How do you get the maximum bid out there?  


And I think that would be an aspect that we would ‑‑ you know, we've been advised by, you know, some of the participants there that that might be a good thing to have a better look at, and, certainly, I think in the context of the market price a costing study is something that would come within scope, as well.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Could you just remind me who would be involved in putting together the terms of reference on this RFP in this area?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, it's the stakeholder committee, so we would have representatives from the ratepayer group or groups, whoever chose to participate.


We would have industry representation, as well as prospective users of the service.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  That's all.


MR. KAISER:  I just have two short questions.


I found your answers to Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Millar on this profit sharing a little bit, perhaps, different.


You're forecasting ‑‑ you're going to charge 4 cents an insert, and you're forecasting a cost of 2 cents an insert, and the profit, you say, will split 50/50 between the ratepayer and the shareholder.


Then Mr. Shepherd says, Okay, well, what happens if the cost is not 2 cents but 3 cents?  You said, Well, the extra cost would be shared equally between the ratepayer and the shareholder.


And then he said, Well, what happens if the cost is not 2 cents but 1 cent?  And you said, The extra profit, which would be 1 cent, would all go to the ratepayer.  And you mentioned the asymmetry of that.  


Is that right?  Do I have the facts right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  I think where we're going with that is that, at this point, we believe 2 cents is our best estimate of what the cost is.  And we're prepared that if ‑‑ to indicate that if the costs are lower, that we would have a guarantee, if you will, of that 2 cents.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Then on this advertising - this also flowed out of Mr. Shepherd's questions - you recall he was referring to one of his clients or members -- one of the members of one of his clients, and he had a little box where you ticked.  


And I was thinking yesterday.  I went to a breakfast meeting where the president of Porter Airlines was delivering a little presentation at the National Club extolling the benefits of his airline and mentioning that in the month of February, he moved as many passengers out of the island as Air Canada did in the whole previous year.  He had a little box, and he had free drinks, and Air Canada didn't have free drinks; and he had free transportation from the Royal York to the airport, and Air Canada, of course, didn't.  


But as I heard your answer to Mr. Shepherd you wouldn't allow that kind of comparative advertising on your bill inserts? 


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, I think that Enbridge Gas Distribution would want to retain that control of how the advertising is being used.  You know, we don't want to make it too onerous.  But I think that there ‑‑ perhaps you can agree with that, but there could be instances of comparisons that could be misleading and we don't ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  And that's my point.  There can be useful comparative advertising and there can be misleading comparative advertising.


Now, there's a legal standard in this country as to what constitutes misleading advertising.  It's in the Competition Act.  There's all kinds of cases.


Why wouldn't you just say, We will not allow misleading advertising, and not go beyond that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think that's our intent, is to not allow misleading advertising.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you very much.  

Mr. Millar, anything further with this panel?


MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure if Mr. Cass has any re‑examination, Mr. Chair.


MR. CASS:  No.  Actually, I have none, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

Thank you, panel. 

We'll come back in an hour with Mr. Adams as the witness.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:43 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:52 p.m.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. O'Leary.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman.  Before I turn the mike over to Mr. McIntosh, a couple of preliminary matters to note on the record; that the company has filed, today, both in hard copy and electronically, answers to a number of undertakings under a letter of March 2nd, 2007, relating to undertakings given on the 11th day of the proceeding, and a copy of Exhibit K10.2.

     The second matter, sir, is we would ask for an exhibit number in respect of a very small booklet I'm going to possibly use for the cross-examination of Mr. Adams, which has been circulated.

     MR. KAISER:  Do you have those undertakings, Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:  We have the undertakings, and we have the book ...

     MR. O'LEARY:  It's entitled "Booklet of Materials for 

Cross-examination of Tom Adams."   We have some more copies, if need be.

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  We had actually already marked them and we marked them in the wrong order, so ... maybe if it's acceptable, there is a series of documents that are going to be filed as exhibits.  I don’t believe there is an objection to any of them.  

Is there a problem if we mark all three of them right now?

     MR. O'LEARY:  Which other ones are there?

     MR. MILLAR:  There is an exhibit from Mr. DeVellis -- oh, I'm sorry.

     There's the examination-in-chief materials from

Mr. MacIntosh.  Assuming there's no objection to those, perhaps we could have that marked right now as well.

     MR. O'LEARY:  I have no objection to it being marked as an exhibit, but I may have some comments about some of its contents.

     MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  Why don't we call that Exhibit K14.2, and then your document can be K14.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K14.2:  EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF MATERIALS FROM MR. MacINTOSH

     EXHIBIT NO. K14.3:  DOCUMENT entitled "Booklet of 

Materials for Cross-examination of Tom Adams"

     MR. KAISER:  Do we have the undertakings?

     MR. O'LEARY:  Just for the record, sir, specifically they're undertakings J11.1 and 2, J11.3, J11.5 and 6.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Oh, and also J10.7.  It's an updated undertaking response.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. MacIntosh.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, if I might, I indicated a moment ago that I might have several comments about Exhibit K14.2.  And my comments are limited strictly to the inclusion of the Compass report or, I should say, select pages of the Compass report.  

This is a document which was undertaken -- it’s the results of a customer survey which was undertaken back in 1995 and was presented in the EBO-490 proceeding back at that time, which ended up with a decision around August of 1995.

     While I don't know where Mr. MacIntosh and 

Mr. Adams intend to go with this, unless I'm somewhat handicapped in my concerns here, in my ability to express them, I have concerns that the document, in fact, appears nowhere in the record.  

It's not referred to in Mr. Adams' prefiled evidence, the Enbridge panel was not asked any questions about this document.  Only portions of it have been reproduced here, and the Board relied upon the document in its entirety back in 1995 and made certain findings which are not also included in the materials here.

     My question and concern is where is this going and how is it helpful to the Board to produce a document that I take it Mr. Adams is going make certain opinions on today when there are no other witnesses that will be following him that will have an opportunity to perhaps dispel the notions and suggestions he's giving in respect of a document he's neither the author nor qualified to interpret.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. MacIntosh, can you help us out?

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Chair, in his testimony 

Mr. Charleson referred to the fact that low-income customers wished the benefit of risk management, and in response to that we've brought forward the only document that shows questions put to customers concerning their interest in the lowest rate versus higher but stable rates.

     That's the only reference that we'll be making to this document.

     MR. KAISER:  Is Mr. Adams going to have any opinions or comment on this document other than confirming that it exists?

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Just reading the answer to that question that was given in the document.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. O'Leary?

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, obviously we'll have comments when it comes to argument, as to its usefulness, particularly in light of the fact that the low-income group is represented here and, to my knowledge, they're still very much in support to have the risk management program.     

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Chair, the reason that the numbers are 1, 3, 5 is that the intervening pages were blank, so we didn't reproduce them.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Thank you.  Please proceed.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Chair, my name is David MacIntosh, and I'm here on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.  

With me today is Tom Adams, whom Energy Probe has called as a witness on the risk management issues.  

May I introduce Mr. Adams and ask that he be sworn now.

     ENERGY PROBE - PANEL 1

     Thomas Adams; Sworn

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. MacINTOSH (ON QUALIFICATIONS):

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  

If I can start by asking, Mr. Adams, what is your current position?

     MR. ADAMS:  I'm the executive director of Energy Probe and a consultant with the firm Borealis Energy Research 

Association.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Chair, the risk management evidence which was E-filed by Energy Probe appears as Exhibit L, tab 5, schedule 1.  And the response of Energy Probe to the interrogatories of the applicant appears at Exhibit I, tab 31, schedules 1-6.

     Mr. Adams, was the prefiled evidence and the foundation's responses to interrogatories prepared under your direction and supervision?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  And do you adopt the evidence for the purposes of this proceeding as well?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Do you have any corrections that you wish to bring to the Panel's attention?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  We have one correction, and that is a correction to the table in L5.1 at paragraph 14.  And for convenience, that correction has been included in the Energy Probe book of materials, although it was provided also in an interrogatory response as well.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.

     Mr. Chair, if I could ask you to turn to the c.v. of Mr. Adams, which is in our booklet pages 1 to 3.  

Now, Mr. Adams, last year, in testifying on risk management at the Enbridge 2006 annual rates case, is it correct that you were qualified to provide your opinion on your prefiled risk management evidence in the context of your considerable experience in the energy market in Ontario?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  With your permission, Mr. Chair, I will ask Mr. Adams a few questions on the changes to his qualifications since that time.

     Mr. Adams, to be current, am I correct in stating that you're lecturing at the University of Toronto for the 

2006/2007 academic year?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, I have a position there as a sessional lecturer.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And would you please inform the Board Panel as to the topic of your lecture series?


MR. ADAMS:  It's a third‑year geography course called "Energy In Society."


MR. MACINTOSH:  I might ask you, in your capacity as executive director of Energy Probe, are you called upon to advise consumers on household energy purchasing matters?


MR. ADAMS:  That continues to be an active part of my responsibilities at Energy Probe.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And just one last question, Mr. Adams. Have you been requested to appear before any of the legislative committees in Ontario this year?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I did appear as a witness at the invitation of the Standing Committee On Government Agencies late last month in its review of Ontario Power Generation.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And that was Monday of this week; am I correct?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Now, Mr. Chair, we offer Mr. Adams as a witness with 19 years' experience in the design and operation of Ontario energy markets.  So it is our intention to put forward Mr. Adams as an expert with respect to the Ontario energy market.


MR. KAISER:  Any objections, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, not an objection, per se.  I believe, if I understand correctly, the description of what Mr. Adams is being put forward for, but if I may ask Mr. Adams a couple of questions on these qualifications?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, of course.  


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. O'LEARY (ON QUALIFICATIONS):

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Adams, would you confirm for us that in fact you have no education or training in the design and interpretation of customer or marketing surveys.


MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  And, indeed, when you were asked questions of a similar nature in the 2006 rate case, EB‑2005‑2001, you confirmed that was the case then and it stands true today, as well?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  And is it also true that you have no education, training, or experience which would allow you to be qualified as an expert in risk management activities specifically?


MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And, again, that was what your answer was in the 2006 rate case proceeding, and there's no change to today?


MR. ADAMS:  Correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  So you're being put forward in the same capacity as you were in that case?


MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  And despite the questions from Mr. MacIntosh about these additional qualifications, none of them specifically relating to risk management; is that fair?


MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Adams will be accepted as an expert on that basis.


MR. MACINTOSH:  With your indulgence, Mr. Chair, we do have some direct evidence today.  I note that the applicant's risk management panel spent considerable time in offering up opinions on Mr. Adams' evidence, not only in examination‑in‑chief but in cross‑examination, as well.  It appears reasonable that we deal with these opinions in our examination‑in‑chief.


And to make it efficient for Panel members with respect to documentation, we'll be referring in the main to volume 2 of the transcript of these proceedings dated January 29th.


MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.


EXAMINATION‑IN‑CHIEF BY MR. MACINTOSH:

MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Adams, what is the purpose of your evidence?


MR. ADAMS:  The purpose of my evidence is to provide the Board with comments on the applicant's response in its prefiled evidence to the tests put forward by the Board in paragraph 5.5.10 of its decision with reasons in the last Enbridge distribution rates case.  That's EB‑2005‑0001.


The Board Panel stated in that case, and I quote:

"No evidence has been provided that demonstrates whether the hedging activity had any material effect on the volatility experienced by customers, given the effects of QRAM, the PGVA, and the equal billing program over the same period."


MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Adams, what tests do you feel were set for the applicant?


MR. ADAMS:  The first test set for the applicant in the Board's decision was to demonstrate that the Enbridge risk management program represents a useful or cost‑effective tool to reduce consumer price volatility in a fair and reasonable way.  If it cannot, the risk management program is redundant.


The second test was for the applicant to demonstrate that Enbridge's hedging activity had a material effect on the volatility experienced by consumers.  If not, the risk management program is not required.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Now, Mr. Adams, I note that in paragraph 5.5.1 of the decision with reasons in that proceeding, the Board Panel used the phrase "experienced by consumers" not once, but twice.  Would you please comment on your interpretation of the phrase "experienced by consumers"?


MR. ADAMS:  My interpretation of the phrase "experienced by consumers" is that the Board Panel was using that phrase to differentiate between the reduction in volatility experienced by consumers from that experienced by the company, which was the focus of the company's evidence in their last rates proceeding.


From reading the decision, it appears to me that the phrase "experienced by consumers" was employed in its plain meaning, being conscious perception.  In other words, it means volatility perceived by the customer.


MR. MACINTOSH:  I want to focus your attention on volume 2 of the transcript for this proceeding, turning to page 59.


In answer to Mr. O'Leary's request that he summarize for the benefit of the Panel why the company submits that the risk management program should continue, Mr. Charleson stated at line 5, and I quote:

"The company believes that the majority of its customers, particularly low‑income customers, support the continuation of the risk management program for several reasons." 


End of quote.  

One of those reasons given is that:

"Not all customers chose to participate in the budget billing plan available to all customers."


So let me ask you about the matter of customer choice that Mr. Charleson brought up in the examination‑in‑chief.


If a customer wishes to smooth the payments made for natural gas, what are the choices that the applicant's customers have?


MR. ADAMS:  The applicant ‑‑ the customers have two options:  One is to enter into a contract with a marketer for a fixed price for a fixed term; and second is to enter into or continue on in the applicant's equal billing program, now called the budget billing program.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And, Mr. Adams, for the customer that wishes to pay the QRAM price, the cost of natural gas as it is consumed, be it high in the winter and low in the summer, what choices are open to that customer of Enbridge?


MR. ADAMS:  The customer does not have that choice.  Even if a customer does not choose to contract for a fixed price with a marketer or take part in the budget billing program, the applicant only provides the service of a commodity that is subject to the risk management program for which the costs associated with the risk management program are built in.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And while we are examining the quotation from Mr. Charleson's testimony in examination‑in‑chief, let me draw your focus to his statement that:

"The company believes the majority of its customers, particularly low‑income customers, support the continuation of the risk management program."


Mr. Adams, to your knowledge, has the applicant ever clearly asked its customers if it is more important for them to pay the lowest price for natural gas or a higher but stable price?

     MR. ADAMS:  Having studied the utility’s risk management program for many years, I'm only aware of one instance when the utility has asked that question, and that was in the survey that was conducted in March of 1995.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  What was the response of residential customers?

     MR. ADAMS:  At page 5 of that report, which is page 9 of our package of documents, in the executive summary, at the third bullet, it is reported that:

"73 percent of residential consumers surveyed said it was important for them to pay the lowest price for natural gas as opposed to a higher but stable price."

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, I apologize for interrupting here, but I thought Mr. MacIntosh told us that the sole purpose that the Compass report was going to be used for was in relation to low-income customers' preferences, and now I understand Mr. Adams is using it for something in addition.  

Again, my concern is that we only have a part of the report.  No one has even looked at or considered the report, and here now Mr. Adams has given an opinion on a document that is not in evidence and he was not the author of and there was no witness that spoke to it in this proceeding.

     In fact, the panel - and I'm happy to produce a copy of the decision - Mr. Vlahos was sitting on the panel at that time, back in 1995 --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

     MR. O'LEARY:  -- made a finding that this report supported -- I'm sure you remember it very well, sir -- this report supports an increase in the tolerance level of $35.  That was the finding to the Board in that decision.

     Mr. Adams is going beyond what Mr. MacIntosh said and looking for you to adopt his opinion on another matter.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Chair, I haven't gotten to my question yet.  That was just the lead-up to it.  I'm sorry.

     MR. KAISER:  Why don't you get to your question.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Adams, was there any other finding of interest in respect to paying the lowest price, as opposed to higher but stable prices?

     MR. ADAMS:  On page 15 of that report, which is page 10 of our package of documents, in section 6.1, under the heading "Customer Price Preference," in the fourth paragraph, the report states:

”Hence, there is clearly support by well over half of the respondents in all segments for the concept of taking on the risk of higher prices by purchasing gas at floating prices in order to gain the opportunity to achieve lower prices.  This is more important than average among residential respondents with lower incomes and women.  There are not significant differences between groups of the ICA sample."

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Now, Mr. Adams, turning again to volume 2 of the January 29th transcript, at page 78, starting at line 27, Mr. Charleson is asked whether the risk management program for a customer on budget billing changes their volatility.  

And Mr. Charleson states at line 2 of page 79 that:

"It does not change the price paid for the commodity."

And again at line 8 that:

"The budget billing plan just changes timing of when the amount is paid with the underlying commodity costs being the same."

     My question to you is:  Am I correct in understanding that Mr. Charleson, as a panel member for the applicant, had said on more than one occasion, the most recent being January 29th before this Panel, that neither the Enbridge risk management program nor the equal billing plan, now known as the budget billing plan, change the underlying commodity price, just the timing of when it is paid?

     MR. ADAMS:  That is a complete explanation of our understanding.  The budget billing program changes the timing without the addition of cost, and the risk management program also changes the timing of payment for commodity, although there are some costs associated with it.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Now, to explore the theory a little bit more, I'm going to ask you to turn to the exchange between Mr. Charleson and members of the Board Panel.  

First with Mr. Vlahos starting at page 98 of volume 2 and the theory of the zero sum game, and most particularly, that “While you may not be able to beat the market, in the long run you can be at the market."  That would be starting at line 17.  

And Mr. Vlahos returns to this theory on page 108, at line 3.  Here is the theory in respect of favourable upward commodity price trends interacting on risk management, expressed in what I would call pure terms.  

I quote from the transcript:            

”MR. VLAHOS:  So if it is trending up, then you are always going to be ahead; you're going to be beating the market in the short run and in the long run."

     To Mr. Charleson's credit, he did point out that his expert from Risk Advisory, Mr. Smart, who we now learned afterwards was Mr. Simard, that it was his opinion that - and I quote from page 109, line 4 - he still indicated that:  “Yes, risk management is a zero-sum game on the longer term horizon."

      But, Mr. Adams, that isn't entirely true, is it, because the risk management program appears to be biased in favour of avoiding upward price volatility?

     MR. ADAMS:  In my review of Enbridge's evidence over the years on risk management, Enbridge has emphasized the intention of the program to protect the customer from upward price volatility.  Enbridge has not, to my knowledge, put forward the claim that it is attempting to protect consumers from downward price volatility.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Adams, could that explain why the Enbridge risk management program can for some years make relatively modest but positive gains against market but because of its bias against upward price mobility, the program can really lose millions and millions on other years?

     MR. ADAMS:  Superior Energy Management asked question number 18 - it's reproduced in our evidence - on the overall impact of the risk management program, and that interrogatory response identified very substantial losses in the most recent year.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Am I correct in stating that there's never been a year wherein the applicant has made a gain of even one-quarter the loss of last year, which was somewhere over 100 million of customer money, most of which will be paid for by residential consumers, including the low-income consumers that told Enbridge that what was needed was not stable higher prices but the lower price?

     MR. ADAMS:  There have never been, in the history of the risk management program of Enbridge, any gains from the program that are even close to the losses in its most recent year.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Now, Mr. Adams, before we end our discussion on this topic, there are two areas of interest that I wish to explore.  The first is a concern that the risk management program of Enbridge violates some of the principles that the applicant appears to hold dear.

     Do you recall that, without turning to a specific example prior to argument, it has been the position of witnesses that Enbridge needs to see some profit for the shareholder to turn its mind that financial matters - demand management as an example - but have testified that the company makes no profit from risk management?

     MR. ADAMS:  The company's evidence on risk management, as an example, has been clear that incentives are -- or a potential profit for the shareholder is required.  The company has also been clear that there is no profit to the shareholder arising from the risk management program.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And the other principle expressed by Mr. Tom Ladanyi on the weather-forecasting methodology panel is that there should be no cross‑generational subsidization among customers, and I believe that expression of principle is found in volume 5 of the transcript, at page 28, line 18.  But there is no need to turn it up, because I can quote Mr. Ladanyi in response to Mr. Stevens:

"Well, one of the things one tries to do in regulation and in rate‑setting is to avoid, as much as possible, inter-generational cross‑subsidy.  The idea is, in rate-setting, that user-pay principle should apply, which is that current customers should pay as much as possible for current costs, rather than being forced to pay costs that are incurred by customers perhaps ten years ago or ten years in the future."


Am I correct, Mr. Adams, that based on the current record of the applicant, the recovery of the millions of customers' money lost by the applicant last year may take many years to recover?  If we have a zero‑sum game, it is future generations of residential customers that may be the recipients of positive gains.  Does that seem reasonable?


MR. ADAMS:  The size of the loss in the most recent year is a significant one, and if it is true that over the long run these monies will be recovered, they will be benefits that flow to other customers than those that are incurring the cost for the program over the last year.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And if it isn't a zero-sum game, the money is just gone; correct?


MR. ADAMS:  The losses or gains from the risk management program are paid out or benefit customers on an ongoing basis.  So the money that ‑‑ the net losses from the program are net losses that have actually been paid or are forecast to be paid based on the clearance of their risk management instruments.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And to take that thought a little further, though, and I note that Mr. Charleson, in response to Mr. Quesnelle's questions starting at page 109, line 14, spoke of the zero‑sum game and perhaps unintentionally may have caused some confusion.  “Zero‑sum” refers to a situation, as in a game, whereby a gain on one side entails a corresponding loss for the other side.  But that is not at all the situation in the risk management game for Enbridge, is it? 


MR. ADAMS:  Enbridge is not engaged in risk management on its own.  It is not the only player in this game, and the zero‑sum concept is not directly applicable to what Enbridge is doing with its risk management program.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Because we don't have two sides, do we?  We have a situation that resembles a poker game, where once the house takes its cut, the zero‑sum game involves all the players, so that one player can lose continuously over the years; isn't that correct?


MR. ADAMS:  That is a possible outcome.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And in the risk management game, there are a lot of players, not all of whom are operating with the same hedging instruments, with the same level of expertise, and with the same financial objectives.  Would that be correct?


MR. ADAMS:  Enbridge is one small player in a much larger pool.


MR. MACINTOSH:  So, Mr. Adams, at the end of the testimony of Mr. Charleson, there was some discussion of whether or not risk management should move to yet another forum.  Are you in favour of the Board rehashing risk management in yet another forum, and could you give us an opinion as to how that would play out in terms of regulatory efficiency?


MR. ADAMS:  We believe that this matter has been thoroughly studied.  This onion has been peeled.  We've got to the core of the implications of risk management, and we believe that Enbridge has been unable to demonstrate any substantial benefits for consumers.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Chair, the witness is ready for examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  

Mr. O'Leary.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.


In fact, I do believe that Mr. Buonaguro may or may not have a couple of questions, but we've elected to go first in the hope that I may actually ask all the questions which he intended to, and then shorten the procedure.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


MR. O'LEARY:  Just, Mr. Adams, a couple of questions arising out of your evidence-in‑chief.


First of all, you acknowledged, when I asked you a few moments ago, that you're not an expert in risk management methodologies; right?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Right.  And you would have to agree with me that whether a particular methodology which a company follows, in terms of pursuing risk management, is a matter that only an expert could speak on and opine on?


MR. ADAMS:  That's reasonable.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So, therefore, when you said that the Enbridge risk management program tends to have a bias towards preventing upward price escalations versus downward, that's your opinion as a layperson, not as an expert; right?


MR. ADAMS:  I'm just observing the consistency between the outcome of the program and the attention that Enbridge has drawn over the years to its intention to protect consumers from upward price volatility.


MR. O'LEARY:  But you're not saying that it's your view that the methodology that Enbridge is actually following has an inherent bias.  This is just your observation?


MR. ADAMS:  It is one way of explaining the financial outcomes that arise from the program.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, let's ask about the financial outcomes.


You referred to a response to, I believe it was, Superior, and it demonstrated the annual, over the last four years I believe it was, losses or gains?


MR. ADAMS:  There's -- the Superior risk question asks for a five‑year period.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, five years.


MR. ADAMS:  So it goes back to 2002.  It's 2002 through 2006, inclusive.  There's also an Energy Probe interrogatory that has a similar ‑‑ makes a similar request for information.  I believe it's Energy Probe 21 -- 21 or 22.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right, fair enough.  But my question to you is simply this:  You'll agree with me that the risk management program has been up and in operation since the mid-1990s?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Right.  And do we have before this Board evidence of the losses and gains that have been incurred as a result of those activities in each of the years since the risk management plan was operational?


MR. ADAMS:  The losses and gains of the program were commented on by Enbridge in its argument-in‑chief for the period starting in 1997 through 2004, in its argument-in‑chief last year.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But my question is simply this, is that in terms of the evidence in support of your statement that somehow there's going to be a subsidization in terms of future ratepayers, if I can put it that way, as a result of future ratepayers benefiting from gains to make up for the losses in this year -- which is what I think you were saying, were you not, sir?


MR. ADAMS:  If it turns out that the program ultimately, over the long term, results in a zero‑sum game, that would be the impact.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, perhaps I'm a little confused, then, because I thought that you accepted risk management as experts in the area of risk management programs.  Pollution Probe wasn't opposed ‑‑ sorry, Energy Probe was not opposed to the qualifications of risk management when they ‑‑ risk advisory when they attended ‑‑


MR. ADAMS:  No, we did not.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And they opined that it was a zero‑sum game, and that over time the losses would balance out with the gains; correct?


MR. ADAMS:  That was their view.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And is it not also a view that you shared with them and accepted?


MR. ADAMS:  We are not as confident about that as we used to be.


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm simply asking, in the 2006 rate case, did you not say, sir, that you share that view?


MR. ADAMS:  I'm sorry, in the 2006 rates case?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  I can't remember the specific testimony.  I don't think contested the opinion of risk management at that time [sic].

     MR. O'LEARY:  Perhaps I could ask you for an undertaking to go back and to determine and refresh your memory as to the position that you took in that case as to whether or not you accepted that, in fact, risk management over time would result in a zero-sum game.

     MR. ADAMS:  I think we can cut it short.  I think we have historically bought into this zero-sum concept.  On reflection, we're not sure that that's an accurate way of understanding the impact of the program.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.

     Then you made a comment about the motivation of management, given the lack of profit flowing from the risk management activities.  Do you recall Mr. Charleson stating in his evidence in-chief that the company undertakes risk management as a customer service, as a service that its customers are asking for?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. O'LEARY:  And do you find it odd that a business would actually provide a service which its customers asked for, even if it does detract from management's attention to some extent?  

     MR. ADAMS:  This is a program that requires some substantial management attention.  There's a committee of the company executives, quite senior people that oversee this program.  And I think it's been described in previous years as meeting on a monthly basis or on a regular basis.

     There's a very large sum of money that's on the table with this program.  It does receive extensive resources, expert resources, from the company to manage it.

     MR. O'LEARY:  My question is simply a general one.  It doesn’t surprise you that a business would offer services to its customers that the customers are asking for?

     MR. ADAMS:  It does surprise me that the company is not expecting each line of business to pay its own way.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Let me move on and ask you a few questions about what your position has been on risk management historically.  

If you could, Mr. Chair and members of the Panel, have in one hand a copy of the cross-examination materials that we have.

     Going back to the 2003 rate proceeding, which was 

RP-2002-0133, could you confirm, Mr. Adams, that Energy Probe specifically agreed to a settlement in that case that involved risk management activities?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  That was a package settlement.

     MR. O'LEARY:  The package actually has language to it, and perhaps I could take you to tab 1, which is the risk management issue in that proceeding.   

This is a copy, Mr. Chair, of the actual settlement agreement.  

You'll note that it's a complete settlement.  So Energy Probe wasn't standing on the side holding its nose.  It jumped in and agreed to the settlement, did it not?

     MR. ADAMS:  We agreed to the settlement package.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Well, and you also agreed to the language here.  

May I read to you the third paragraph:

”The company does not use its risk management program as a means to beat the market.  The company will not use financial derivative instruments as speculative investments.  The company will only use financial derivative instruments as risk management tools to hedge identifiable price risk in its underlying fiscal contracts.  The reduction of price volatility is achieved by hedging a portion of the gas supply portfolio over time to moderate price swings."

You understand, Mr. Adams, that what you were agreeing to at that time was a program that was going to moderate price swings; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  This -- yes.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Then if we go to the last paragraph on that page, it says:

"Enbridge Gas Distribution has agreed, at the request of Board Staff and certain intervenors, to retain an independent third-party consultant to conduct a review and report on the program.  The consultant will be asked to assess the effectiveness of the program in meeting its objectives.  The consultant will also be asked to consider whether the objectives of the program, including its hedging procedures and the continuance of the program, are in the interests of ratepayers and are appropriate practices for management of system-gas supply."

     Now, you understood by that, sir, that Enbridge was going to go out, with your concurrence, that of Energy 

Probe, and retain a firm, which was Risk Advisory, and they would come forth and answer those questions; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  In the context of the overall settlement; that's correct.

     MR. O'LEARY:  And then, sir, in the 2005 rate case, which is RP-2003-0203, the Risk Advisory report was presented, and, in fact, Mr. Simard was here for cross-examination.  

You've already confirmed for me that Energy Probe did not challenge the qualifications of Risk Advisory, but could you also confirm that Energy Probe did not argue that the company should discontinue the program in that rate case?

     MR. ADAMS:  That question was not on the issues list for that proceeding.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Are you saying that Energy Probe deliberately did not raise the subject because it interpreted the issues list that way?  Are you saying that you didn't believe there was sufficient flexibility to suggest that that was the time to discontinue it?

     MR. ADAMS:  We made our arguments at the conclusion of the case, within the confines of the issues list.

     MR. O'LEARY:  You'll at least agree that you did not, in that case, argue that the program should be discontinued; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  I'll agree with you that we did not take action at the beginning of the case to get the matter of the discontinuance of risk management added to the issues list, as we did in this case.

     MR. O'LEARY:  You'll agree with me, as well, that the 

Board, the Panel hearing that case, made a specific finding at page 38, paragraphs 4.3.4 specifically, and I quote:

"The Board views the proposals” - i.e., the Risk Advisory proposals – “before it as improvements to an existing program that has provided value to ratepayers."

     So, sir, in a proceeding you were involved in, at the end of the day the Board found value to ratepayers; correct?  

     MR. ADAMS:  That was the decision of the Board at that time.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Would you agree also that Risk Advisory recommended that the company upgrade from its use, at that time, of the Excel spreadsheets that it was using to manage the program to a more robust format?

     MR. ADAMS:  That was one of the recommendations.

     MR. O'LEARY:  And that, in fact, was undertaken by the company, and that is why the company is looking for the clearance of the deferral account of the approximately $690,000?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, the company did not bring that matter of that capital investment specifically to the Board's attention before it made the investment.

     MR. O'LEARY:  But what we are talking about is what the amount that the company is looking to clear through to rates here relates to its upgrade from the Excel spreadsheets to a more robust format which was recommended by Risk Advisory at that time?

     MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

Just on that note, you'll agree with me that the Board found that no party, including Energy Probe, disputed the company's evidence or challenged the company's evidence that it was experiencing unwieldy and unnecessarily complex methodologies as a result of using an Excel spreadsheet?

     MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.

     MR. O'LEARY:  I have a couple of questions now, sir, about the root of your opposition to the risk management activities.

     Can I ask you, Mr. Adams, is it your view that, regardless of how little it costs to operate a risk management program, what is your view of whether these activities should be undertaken?

     MR. ADAMS:  If we take the hypothetical -- are you asking for a hypothetical, assuming that there was no cost for operating the risk management scenario?

     MR. O'LEARY:  Let's say that we could put the program on autopilot and there were no O&M costs associated with it.  What's your view as to whether it should be continued or not?

     MR. ADAMS:  One of the costs associated with this program is not a direct cost but an indirect cost, and that is the cost of risk.  I believe, based on the experience of other utilities, like, for example, Centra Gas Manitoba, that the operation of these risk management programs can create some risk to the utility.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Let me ask, and assume for the purposes of this question that you accept that it's a zero-sum game, so there is no risk over time.  My question really is simply this, is that:  Do you say that the Board should order the discontinuance of risk management even if it was free?

     MR. ADAMS:  So we have a -- our hypothetical that we're working with now is no operating cost and zero risk of failure long term.


MR. O'LEARY:  Or gain.


MR. ADAMS:  Or gain.  

In that case, the ‑‑ well, there remains a residual concern here, and that is the accuracy of the pricing signal that the customer receives and also the fairness of the price that the customer ultimately pays, because of the transfer of cost over time by virtue of the risk management program.


MR. O'LEARY:  But one of your concerns, as I understand it, is that there is a cost to operating the risk management program.  I'm simply asking, if it was free, are you saying that it would or would not be of any value to ratepayers?


MR. ADAMS:  Even if it was free, it would have other deleterious effects on the customer.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, the company's evidence and that of the Ipsos‑Reid survey that was presented, which I note you did not comment on in your evidence-in‑chief, suggests that, in fact, customers are looking for some protection from price volatility.  So are you telling us that your view is different than ratepayers'?


MR. ADAMS:  No.  I'm not contesting the Ipsos‑Reid study.  I believe that consumers that seek protection from fluctuations in their rates have options available to them. What they don't have is the vanilla offering, which for some customers may be a preferred solution.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, I guess I'm really trying to jump ahead and ask you:  Is your ‑‑ are your views on the value to ratepayers in respect of risk management activities your personal views?


MR. ADAMS:  They represent my professional judgment, reflective of the priorities of the organization I represent.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And have you taken a poll of your members as to whether or not they view risk management activities and any muting of price volatility as a value to them?


MR. ADAMS:  Energy Probe is structured as an organization with a relatively small number of members, but if you looked at our entire supporter base, which numbers some tens of thousands, we have not surveyed those supporters with respect to their views on these matters, no.


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm just curious, Mr. Adams.  You recall that Mr. Charleson postulated that ‑ and this was in his examination, I believe under cross - that the O&M cost to continue the risk management program would -- and I quote from transcript number 2, page 110, that:

"It would work out to fractions of a penny on a per‑customer basis."


And I'm just wondering if you had ever put to members, either around your table or your distant members, the fact that risk management activities are going to cost them pennies per customer, and it will result in some muting of price volatility, would it surprise you if some of them came back and said, We don't mind; in fact, let it continue?


MR. ADAMS:  Well, first of all, the way you've put the question, it only captures the O&M component of the cost, but I'm sure there's a wide range of opinion out there.  I mean, energy is one of those subjects where, notwithstanding often people not having a lot of knowledge, many people have opinions.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right, thank you.  So some would --


MR. ADAMS:  Oh, absolutely.


MR. O'LEARY:  -- propose that risk management continue?


MR. ADAMS:  Oh, I'm sure there's some people that would reply in support of the company on this point.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Adams, could I turn you to tab 4 of Exhibit K14.3, which is -- and before I ask you any specific questions about it, I wanted to indicate that this is not a specific customer.  It's a hypothetical customer, as I believe you understand.  


And what we're attempting to simply determine is your understanding of how a typical customer would be treated if they were on system versus a budget billing plan.


And so perhaps for the benefit of the Board Panel, which is only seeing this for the first time now, I could walk you through the various columns and rows just so that everybody can agree as to what this shows.


So the left‑hand side of the page, we have what would be the invoice date.  And I've already been alerted to, in the fourth row, there's actually a typo there.  It should be the 16th of November 2005, not 2016.  We're certainly not forecasting out that far.  


But that is the date that this hypothetical customer would receive their bill for that month; right?  You understand that?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, monthly billing.  Got you.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  And then the next column is the consumption, and that's the estimate of what this customer would use in those months, and so, not surprisingly, you see higher volumes being used in the months of December, January, and February?


MR. ADAMS:  As a typical customer.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  And then the next column is the cost per m3, and this is simply a multiplication of the consumption versus the cost, which will then provide you with the gas supply charge?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And I should note, in the event that someone does take the time to verify that calculation for each of the months, in fact, in those months where there's a change in the cost of gas, there is a blending, so it's not exactly a straight multiplication of the numbers.  But for the purposes of today, I don't think it's important.


So you then have the gas-supply charge column, and to the right of that is total gas charges.  And that is, in fact, the amount that the customer sees on their bill; correct?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And then the column to the right of that is the budget billing plan.


And just so we understand the difference between the two, if we look at the gas-supply charge, would you agree with me, Mr. Adams, that this is the commodity price, which is influenced by changes in the PGVA reference price?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So that to the extent that the PGVA reference price has gone up less or has gone down less with risk management activities, then what would have occurred without the risk management activities, it would have an impact on that column?


MR. ADAMS:  This chart doesn't provide that information.


MR. O'LEARY:  No, our position is that it's shown in the table that's been produced in evidence earlier, which shows the quarter over quarter.  My question simply is that if there is an impact, that it would appear in that column; correct?


MR. ADAMS:  It will appear in the gas ‑‑ yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, okay.


And then if we look at the budget billing plan column, what really that is all about is attempting to create a credit in the earlier portion of the years and the latter portion of the years, which will reduce the amount payable during the high‑volume portion of the years.  

Is that a nice way to say it?


MR. ADAMS:  Sure.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So, in fact, in this example what we see is that, in the first four months, we have a monthly amount of $125, which is the bill to the customer?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  And as a result of that, there is -- in the second-last column to the right, there is a credit that has built up in favour of the customer relative to their actual consumption?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So all it really is trying to do is spread the cost that a customer will incur over the entire year over 11 months?


MR. ADAMS:  Correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And you understand at the end of the day that there is no discount because you're on the budget billing plan relative to system.  You, as a budget billing plan customer, have to pay the same thing as the person on system; right?


MR. ADAMS:  That's right.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So as we see at the bottom, for the month of August 2006, in fact, the amount paid by the budget billing plan customer is the identical amount as the system customer, and that's because in that month they both pay their actual consumption charges?


MR. ADAMS:  I agree.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And you understand the budget billing spreads it out over ten months with, in the eleventh month, an adjustment to reflect whether they paid more or too little than what they should have?


MR. ADAMS:  That's true, unless there's a reason to make an adjustment before that due to changes in price that were unanticipated, or volume.


MR. O'LEARY:  And ‑‑ fair enough.  So, in fact, what we see, if I could direct your attention to January '06, and again, then, in April '06, there was an adjustment upwards there for budget billing plan customers because, if they didn't make that adjustment, then they would be falling behind further and further and, come July, they would have a large adjustment to make up for their non-payment to that point.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  The question as to how large it is, the July adjustments, had there been no kind of adaptive response from the budget billing program, it would have resulted in a bill in July not too far off what would be a typical January bill but it would, I'm sure for some customers, come as a bit of a shock.

     MR. O'LEARY:  But, in fact, we've attempted to calculate that here by -- if you go to the very last column, where it says “BVB”, without adjustment with impact on bill.  If in every month that customer had paid 

$125 per month, the adjustment at the end of the year would have been $338.  

Is that your understanding as well?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. O'LEARY:  You would agree with me that that's pretty significant volatility?

     MR. ADAMS:  Going from 125 to 338?

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I’m not contesting the budget billing program.

     MR. O'LEARY:  I'm trying to understand why there's any comparison between the budget billing plan and --

     MR. ADAMS:  Oh.

     MR. O'LEARY:  -- system, because at the end of the day you understand that the budget billing plan is there to assist ratepayers in their budgeting of payments over the course of a year; it's not there to reduce volatility, because it's not designed to reduce volatility but, rather, to smooth payments.  So it's not a proper comparable to system.

     MR. ADAMS:  I don't share that view.  It does have a smoothing effect somewhat similar but more profound than the effect of the risk management program.

     If you look at these months that you've presented here, September, October, November, December, there's absolutely no volatility there.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Let me ask you this, sir.  You would agree with me that where a customer that is under contract with a marketing company, a natural gas marketer, that generally they go with fixed price commodity costs; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, they do.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Then their volatility is virtually nil?

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  If they were on a combination of budget billing plus a marketer contract, then the only change in their bill is a reflection of changes in volume.

     MR. O'LEARY:  What I'm suggesting to you, sir, is the reason why they get on to the budget billing plan is not because of the volatility; they get on it because they're spreading their payments out over time.  It does not have an impact on the price volatility of the commodity.

     MR. ADAMS:  Well --

     MR. O'LEARY:  They've already captured the volatility and they've settled with the marketer and they're going to pay a fixed amount for the commodity.

     There is no volatility that needs to be addressed.  

They simply want to pay it over time.  It's a different thing.  Do you agree with that?  

You don't see that?

     MR. ADAMS:  Look, the purpose of the budget billing program for many customers is to help them plan their budgets, household budgeting, but its effect is smoothing.

     MR. O'LEARY:  We accept that it smoothes.

     The question is:  Come back to the system.  You're not suggesting that the Board should prohibit Enbridge from offering ratepayers the ability to remain on system; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  No, no.

     MR. O'LEARY:  So you're not --

     MR. ADAMS:  We're supportive of system-gas.

     MR. O'LEARY:  And you're not saying, therefore, that the Board should order Enbridge to require all residential customers to go on the budget billing plan, are you?

     MR. ADAMS:  No.  No, of course not.

     MR. O'LEARY:  And you talked about options in your evidence in-chief, and you're saying that of those that are on system that might and do benefit from the muting of price volatility, you're saying it's of no value to them.  I'm trying to understand, why would you take that option away from those that wish to remain on system?

     MR. ADAMS:  What I'm saying is the budget billing program is a superior method of achieving smoothing for those customers that desire smoothing.

     MR. O'LEARY:  And for those --

     MR. ADAMS:  And it's costless.

     MR. O'LEARY:  And for those that wish to remain on system and seek some muting of price volatility, you are suggesting that that value should be taken away from that; is that right?

     MR. ADAMS:  What I'm suggesting is that customers that want a smoothing option have an excellent option, a well-administered, beneficial way of assisting their household with budgeting.

     MR. O'LEARY:  We agree with the budget billing plan and your interpretation of its benefits to customers, but the question still comes back to:  For those that remain on system and are looking for the benefits, the reduction, the muting of the price volatility, you understand that a certain degree of ratepayers ask for that protection, and now you're taking the position that it's of no value.  I'm trying to understand why.

     MR. ADAMS:  The impact of budget billing with respect to smoothing is very profound as is demonstrated by your helpful exhibit.  If we compare that against the smoothing effect that is achieved by the risk management program –- it would be very helpful in this chart if we'd had with and without risk management.

     But we have other exhibits.  Your Exhibit K2.1, which was an exhibit you put to Mr. Charleson in his examination-in-chief.  I'll give you a chance ...

     That exhibit presented the impact of PGVA with and without risk management.  You can see there that, quarter over quarter, the impact is very modest, in terms of the smoothing effect achieved by risk management.  Nothing like the level of smoothing achieved in your exhibit at tab 4.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, that's the point.  We're not trying to compare the two, but you do acknowledge that Exhibit K2.1, at table 1, does indicate that there is some muting of price volatility, and that is the evidence that's before this Panel; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  There is some muting, and I believe that that exhibit demonstrates that the muting is a very, very tiny amount.

     MR. O'LEARY:  And that's your personal view, is it not?

     MR. ADAMS:  That having looked down through the column of impacts, finding that in only one of the quarters studied from the beginning of 2002 through almost completely 2006, there's only one instance where the impact on the risk management was greater than 2 percent on an overall cost per unit of commodity.

     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I'm not going to bring 

Mr. Adams over from the dark side, so I'll just discontinue my questions at this stage.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Buonaguro, want to take a shot?

     MR. ADAMS:  Others have tried.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.     

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I just have one, I believe, short series of questions.

     Looking at your evidence in-chief, and in particular, I guess, the reference is Exhibit L, tab 5, schedule 1.  I'm looking at paragraph 6.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I found it an odd paragraph to include in your evidence.  

And I'll just read it for the record.  It says:

"It should be noted that Energy Probe is not presenting this evidence to advocate abandoning the utility system-gas offering or the introduction of some type of spot price pass-through."

     And then you go on to say:

"In addition, Energy Probe supports the               applicant's equal-billing system as a tangible benefit to residential customers."

Now, why would you include that paragraph in your evidence?

     MR. ADAMS:  That paragraph was included specifically in response to arguments that were presented in the previous Enbridge case, in the 0001 case, where one intervenor, your client, speculated in argument that Energy Probe's real intention was something with regard to system-gas and spot pass‑through.  And we wanted to simplify the peeling of this onion so there was no other confusing factors entering into it and have a narrowly-scoped presentation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you mentioned specifically arguments, I guess, made by others, including VECC, I guess, with respect to Energy Probe, but isn't it true that ‑‑ and we engaged in cross‑examination with you in the Union case where you specifically were advocating, as an ultimate position, a spot price offering through system-gas as being the best way to provide clear market signals to consumers.


MR. ADAMS:  I've been going at this subject for a long time, a lot of years, and I've been unsuccessful.  So I am looking for a way to make this clear enough to come with a clear response from the panel.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're abandoning the spot price market as an option?


MR. ADAMS:  I'm not speaking to it today.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, you did mention, in response to some of the questions that have already been put to you, that price signals were an important factor --


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- in this examination of the risk management program.


Could I hazard a guess that Energy Probe is still concerned with producing what it believes to be the best and clearest price signal to the consumer that it can?


MR. ADAMS:  I am still a stalwart supporter of prices, efficient prices.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But when you say "efficient prices", you mean ‑‑ how does that relate to price signals?


MR. ADAMS:  Prices that reflect opportunity cost.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So to translate that into a definition that includes the words "price signal", does that mean that you are a supporter of an offering to consumers that gives them the most accurate price signal in order to make efficient decisions?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you ‑‑ I'm not sure if the word "complained" - earlier - is the right word, but I think you did complain earlier that because of risk management, someone who wants to pay the QRAM price can't do it, because it's actually QRAM plus, with risk management ‑‑


MR. ADAMS:  There's no way to avoid risk management as a customer, as a system-gas customer.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And as a system-gas customer, you also can't avoid the QRAM right now?


MR. ADAMS:  No, that's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And one of the things that was identified in last year's proceeding is the QRAM also has maybe not the primary objective but certainly one of the secondary and tertiary consequences of obscuring price signals by reducing price volatility?


MR. ADAMS:  The QRAM does have smoothing effects.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And to the extent that it smoothes price volatility and, therefore, obscures price signals, you ‑‑ I don't think Energy Probe would be considered a staunch supporter of QRAM?  


MR. ADAMS:  These pricing questions are -- there's an ideal world out there and there is a practical world that we live in.  The purpose of my evidence is to concentrate on making one tiny step, but practical step, in the direction of efficient prices.  


I acknowledge that a completely efficient price would be more than I am speaking to in my evidence.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It's funny you mentioned steps, which I think is -- one of the problems that I have in understanding your evidence is that Energy Probe, in terms of taking steps, you have to know -- determine whether or not ‑‑ sorry, you have to figure out where the steps are going towards; right?  You don't just take steps with an unknown destination.


MR. ADAMS:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You need a destination and purposeful steps.  And I understand that Energy Probe's position is that the steps are towards an offering, which, to the best available, in a practical world, reduces obfuscation, I guess, of price signals?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  We consider that consumers are better off when they have more accurate information in their bills.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the second step, I would suggest, would be to augment the way the QRAM operates.  Wouldn't that be the next logical step?


MR. ADAMS:  There may be enhancements that can be brought to the QRAM.  There are practical issues associated with the QRAM, as well.  So I don't have an opinion on the optimal way to make improvements to the QRAM.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But that is an issue coming up in the generic proceeding scheduled for this year?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, that's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And, in addition, in the 2005 decision which led to, I guess, risk management being a topic in this decision, it was noted that there's an interrelationship or possible overlapping of the QRAM, PGVA, and risk management, as well as the equal billing plan, now called the budget billing program, so overlapping effects all having to do with the reduction of price volatility?


MR. ADAMS:  That's true, although I believe that risk management can be addressed on a purified basis; that is, we can look at the impact of risk management alone.  And I believe the evidence in this case provides a very thorough basis for understanding that impact.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But since the QRAM is subject to variation in the upcoming proceeding, wouldn't that have an impact on what risk management does to price volatility?


MR. ADAMS:  That's a hypothetical question, and the answer is, yes, potential changes to the QRAM could have impacts on risk management-type of objectives.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand it's hypothetical in the sense that we don't know what that's going to be, but it's not hypothetical in the sense of that that's an issue that's specifically going to be addressed by the Board.


MR. ADAMS:  Fair.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. DeVellis, do you have anything?


MR. DeVELLIS:  No, sir, thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Adams --


MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Vlahos, if I may, would you rather I did some redirect after or before you asked your questions?  It makes no difference to me.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm in the Chair's hands.


MR. KAISER:  Whatever suits you, Mr. MacIntosh.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MACINTOSH:

MR. MACINTOSH:  Well, let me just ask my redirect, then.


Mr. Adams, to the best of your knowledge, did Risk Advisory explain its interpretation of the zero‑sum game theory in any material filed with this Board?


MR. ADAMS:  The term was used, but I can't remember how much detail was provided to the definition.


MR. MACINTOSH:  It was more using the term?


MR. ADAMS:  I remember the term being used but not the definition being studied.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Do you ever remember risk advisory stating who was the other party in the zero‑sum game?


MR. ADAMS:  No.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Now, in some of the questions to you from Mr. O'Leary, he talked about costs.  To your knowledge, has the company ever given a complete accountability for the cost of its risk management instruments?  I don't mean the result of its risk management - we've seen that - but the instruments themselves?


MR. ADAMS:  We have evidence on the operating costs for the program, the capital costs for the program, and the financial implications of the instruments over its history, but not of the specific instruments that are engaged in any one period.


MR. MACINTOSH:  All right.  And I want to turn to something else that Mr. O'Leary was asking about.  Maybe I could combine two of the areas in one.  The first one was when he was referring to his tab 4, when the company does not use its risk management program as a means to beat the market.


And I think if we turned to page 5 of the risk management booklet put forward by Energy Probe, at paragraph 14, which appears to me to agree with what he's saying, because you have said, Good to its word, the applicant has demonstrated that it just can't beat the market.

     Am I correct in that, that there is agreement there?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  As far as the impact of risk management on the PGVA price annually, table 2 in that exhibit shows the annual impact, does it not?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  It appears to me as a percentage to be miniscule.  Would that be correct?

     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I sat here quietly during the evidence in-chief portion and allowed Mr. MacIntosh, who I  appreciate is not a lawyer, to ask questions which were, to state it mildly, leading.  But in redirect, to actually be offering the answer to this witness we respectfully suggest is totally improper.

     MR. KAISER:  I think that's right, Mr. MacIntosh.  

Maybe you could rephrase your question.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  I apologize.

     Let me try and phrase this one in a way that 

Mr. O'Leary would like.

     Looking at his tab 4 table, on the far right column, it would demonstrate the budget billing amount had the company not made any changes during the year.  And so it's very smooth.  But what I wanted to ask you was:  If they had not made any changes and the $338 had to be paid, what percentage higher would that be than the average, the amount that the customer would have had to pay in either January or February had they not been on a budget billing?  

     Is there some easy percentage without me offering the answer?  Could you do the math?

     MR. ADAMS:  If you compare the $338 with the $279, you end up with a difference of, I don't know, it's probably in the range of 17 percent or something, but --

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Close enough.  In response to the questions from Mr. Buonaguro about the QRAM, could I ask you one question?  How much does the QRAM process cost the customer?

     MR. ADAMS:  QRAM is embedded in the operations of the utility, and so it's reflective of their acquisition costs for commodity and there's an interest component to it in the case where there's gas put in storage.

     So there are costs associated with the operation of that program, but it's basic to the functioning of system-gas.  It's a core utility function.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I'll offer up 

Mr. Adams to Mr. Vlahos.

     QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Mr. Adams, just one question.  

Since somebody had reminded me that I have been here since 

1995, I'm glad you’re here; you probably pre-date me on this one.

     So a question for you:  From a historical perspective, 

I guess budget billing came first; is that correct, from your recollection?

     MR. ADAMS:  I believe budget billing is a truly ancient phenomena.  It pre-dates me.

     MR. VLAHOS:  When we talk about risk management and QRAM, I guess we're talking 1985, with deregulation?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  QRAM is a relative newcomer.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So if I were to run them by sort of time, budget billing, then it would be risk management or QRAM?

     MR. ADAMS:  Risk management came before QRAM.  Risk management was back in the days when we still had reference prices.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So risk management came before QRAM?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yeah.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Now your baby step is going after the risk management?

     MR. ADAMS:  That's right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Not the latest arrival.

     MR. ADAMS:  No.  We kind of like the late arrival.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Oh, I see.

     MR. ADAMS:  It's certainly much better than what was there before.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And why do you like the latest arrival?  

If you have budget billing, if I take your theory to its nth degree, if you have an option as a customer to choose my supplier, or I can stay with the utility and I can be on budget billing; right?

     MR. ADAMS:  Budget billing has a transparency characteristic that's very beneficial.  When the customer is in a credit position, the credit is identified on the bill, and also the volumetric rate and any changes to the volumetric rate are reported there, so that the budgetary component of budget billing is overlaid on transparency with respect to the underlying prices that the customer's incurring.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So I'm able to see what I'm actually costing the system, but I'm only paying a fixed price for 11 months.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So you like the transparency part of it as well as the convenience, if you like, the budgetary convenience of it.

     MR. ADAMS:  Good combination.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I shouldn't say you like it, but --

     MR. ADAMS:  No, I do like it.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And QRAM, you like it why, then?  

     MR. ADAMS:  Because it has the quarterly adjustment feature.

     Prior to QRAM, the pricing system had to accommodate the fact that price forecasts could sometimes be off by a substantial amount.  And utilities were accumulating very large PGVA balances.  The applicants were coming forward to the Board on an unscheduled basis for adjustments, and often postponing, showing up at the Board, for good reason; they don't want to be here all the time.

     There were a couple of instances where utilities, I think, were hoping that the balances would wash away when prices would kind of go their way, and didn't, resulting in very substantial balances coming forward.

     So there was frustration on behalf of the Board and legitimate concern from the utility about the size of these balances accumulating, plus there was the problem of the customer not getting a timely price signal.

     The QRAM helped to bring order to all of this by having a regular schedule for these adjustments.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You do recall the debate whether QRAM should be a monthly or a quarterly or --

     MR. ADAMS:  There was annual --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Are you settled on the three months?

     MR. ADAMS:  There was at one time a GCAM proposal from Enbridge, and it was presented in evidence, in prefiled evidence, but it was withdrawn and never testified to.  “GCAM” meaning a monthly adjustment program.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So --

     MR. ADAMS:  The gas cost adjustment mechanism was the acronym, and it referred to a monthly adjustment mechanism.

     MR. VLAHOS:  From a customer's perspective, though, QRAM doesn't really mean anything, does it?  I mean, QRAM, as I hear you, is the result of a company -- the utility not being willing to be exposed to potentially large balances in its supply account.


MR. ADAMS:  Relative to what existed before, the QRAM moved us in the direction of a more timely price, a price more reflective of an up-to-date understanding of what the price expectation was.


What QRAM replaced was a pricing system where the intention was to have prices steadily ‑‑ steady for a year but then these untimed adjustments entering into it.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So just finally, then, once the QRAM -- the QRAM world has come in and has settled, then your view is that risk management, which was second in order, in timing order, does not have a home anymore?


MR. ADAMS:  That's right.  We're making the case from the dark side that risk management is redundant.


MR. VLAHOS:  Redundant because ‑‑ well, something can be redundant, but it can cost very little.  But you're -- also your proposition is that it costs a lot?


MR. ADAMS:  Well, I agree that the operating cost is very low, and when you do the calculation out against volumes, that's not a major concern.


The concern is really in these other areas.


MR. VLAHOS:  The other areas being the potential large losses?


MR. ADAMS:  Potential large losses, the transfer of costs over time so that customers, you know, through this zero‑sum theory may be recovering from losses from a far previous period, and, also, the element of this that reduces transparency for the customer and also the risk to the utility.


MR. VLAHOS:  Although some of those elements may be present in the QRAM, you know, there's a bit of cross‑generational inequity, but are you saying that they are mitigated there; they are liveable?


MR. ADAMS:  Re‑design of QRAM is a very worthwhile thing to think about, but I would want to think about it in an intelligent fashion.


MR. VLAHOS:  I sort of have to ask you this question.  There was some discussion, maybe not today ‑‑ well, maybe today, but the other day, about whether this future process in which you will visit QRAM, if it will have a risk management aspect to it or not.  What's your understanding?  Do you have an understanding as to whether risk management will be part of this QRAM review?


MR. ADAMS:  I recollect previous indications that risk management would be included, and I believe that includes some of the questions that you were asking from the previous risk management panel of the company, but I can't remember any specific direction from the Board.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  Thank you very much, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Now, Mr. Adams, just on the same theme that Mr. Vlahos was asking questions, the features of the QRAM that I'm hearing - and correct me if I am wrong - that you find attractive, I suppose, are that they're mechanical, they're kind of diarized in that the frequency is consistent and it takes any of the bias on behalf of the applicants to stay out or come in quickly, and those sorts of things.


So when we're speaking of risk management and the things that you don't find attractive about it, are there any things that could be transferred as far as features?  And what I'm getting at is if risk management was dealt with in a more mechanical element, if the instruments were -- the financial instruments were purchased in a mechanistic fashion, to have the same smoothing effect, but not to have as high risk elements to it.  Could you speak to that?


MR. ADAMS:  I think we've seen that evolution already.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mm‑hm.


MR. ADAMS:  One of the recommendations of risk advisory was to move away from an objective mandate for the program of achieving lower cost, and that's really where this zero‑sum concept got into the kind of popular discussion around all this and moved towards a more mechanical structure.


That's an evolution that's happened here, but it's also happened in other markets, Centra Gas Manitoba being an example of that -- evolution towards a purely mechanistic program.


So we are already at something that appears to have a much more mechanical structure than it had historically.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That isn't heading towards something which you would see an ideal end state and that has become so mechanical that it has a positive effect without risk, or lower risk, not totally without risk?


MR. ADAMS:  The evolution towards a mechanical program did lower the risk, you know, the judgment risk and the rogue trader risk and, you know, those kinds of things that could enter into it.


And, by the way, you know, nobody's ever identified a rogue trader instance that I am aware of in the Canadian gas utilities.  So that ‑‑ but, you know, I think one of the reasons the utilities keep such high‑level oversight on these programs is because they want to make sure that that doesn't happen.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That isn't something that you're ‑‑ if we arrived at a point where it was -- you know, as far as we could take it efficiently in a mechanical fashion, that wouldn't be the desirable end state for you, though.  It would be the elimination of the activity altogether; right?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, that's right.  When we look at what risk management is achieving today - and it is a fairly mechanical application of this - we can see that the impacts on consumers are, I think, barely noticeable, even for a very expert consumer that's, you know, watching carefully.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  And, Mr. Adams, to the extent that you're disenchanted with risk management, is it largely based upon the realization that, from the point of view of an individual participant, this is not a zero‑sum game and one entity, such as Enbridge, can bet wrong consistently?


MR. ADAMS:  That's a substantial risk.


MR. KAISER:  And that's driven, of course, by the big loss that's recently been encountered?


MR. ADAMS:  The size of that loss is disturbing.


MR. KAISER:  Troubling.  Thank you.


Do you have anything Mr. DeVellis?  I asked you before.


Thank you, Mr. Adams.  

Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  

We'll take the afternoon break at this point.  Where are we in terms of finishing up, Mr. O'Leary?  Is your partner in crime in the building?


MR. O'LEARY:  There are several partners in crime that may be in the building, but I can't reveal any of their names, sir.  But I believe we have one panel left, which is the rate implementation panel, which I believe Mr. DeVellis is going to ask questions, and then, God willing, I believe that would be the oral portion of the proceeding, but ...


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So we'll come to that panel after the break, 15 minutes.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:31 p.m. 
     --- On resuming at 4:50 p.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Stevens.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I'm pleased to present what I believe is the last witness panel of Enbridge Gas Distribution in this phase of the rate case.  With us today are Patrick Hoey, the director of Regulatory Affairs, and Malini Giridhar, who is the director of energy policy and analysis and was previously the manager of rates research and design.

     I don't believe either of them have been sworn.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION - PANEL 8

Patrick Hoey; Sworn

Malini Giridhar; Sworn

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  This witness panel is here to speak to issue 9.1.  By way of introduction, I thought that perhaps it would be helpful to very quickly turn to page 46 of the settlement proposal, just in order to introduce the issue.

     As the Board Panel members will recall, there was a settlement approved by the Board, subject to issue 9.1 that the company ought to be able to recover $26 million in deficiency beginning April 1.

     Issue 9.1 relates to how the Board should deal with any revenue deficiency applicable from January 1, 2007, to the date of the Board's decision.  

As you'll see, all the parties who agreed to the settlement of issue 9.1 agreed with the company's proposal to recover the full $26 million of deficiency and agreed that no issue or objection will be raised over whether any part of that $26 million is unrecoverable, because it relates to the time period between January 1, 2007 and April 1, 2007.

     You will further see that there's no agreement over the recovery of deficiency in excess of $26 million.

     The final thing that I wanted to draw your attention to here is that all the parties who participated in the settlement agreed with this, except for Schools.

     I just have one other item of preamble.  You'll recall that this morning Mr. Cass mentioned that Mr. Thompson had a few questions that he was hoping to address to this panel around an interrogatory response related to cost to revenue allocation, and Mr. Thompson has now confirmed to me that he's content to ask those questions in writing so as not to delay the timing of this hearing.  

So with your leave, we would propose to attach an evidentiary reference to whatever those questions were and the answers that are provided by the company.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. STEVENS:  With that context and with your leave, I just have one question in examination-in-chief, and it's this:

     EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. STEVENS:

     MR. STEVENS:  Could you please explain to me what relief it is that the company's seeking in terms of issue 9.1.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly.  The company is seeking full recovery of the revenue requirement approved by the Board in this proceeding for the test year, within the test year.  So it's seeking full recovery of any revenue deficiency.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Those are all the questions that I have.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  

Mr. Millar, before Mr. DeVellis goes ahead, would you reserve an exhibit number for the responses to Mr. Thompson's questions?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I guess those will be -- formally I guess they're undertakings; is that --

     MR. KAISER:  No, they're going to be responses by the applicant to written questions that Mr. Thompson is putting in writing, as opposed to on the record, orally.  So just give them a --

     MR. MILLAR:  I'll give it an exhibit number, then?

     MR. KAISER:  I think so.

     MR. MILLAR:  The next number is K14.4, and those are the company's responses to Mr. Thompson's written questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Correct.

EXHIBIT NO. K14.4:  RESPONSES TO MR. THOMPSON’S WRITTEN QUESTIONS


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, if I may, just before we get to you, just one question.

     Ms. Giridhar, can you tell me a bit more.  You want full recovery of revenue deficiency.  You haven't told us how.  Can you help us with that so we can get a better picture to follow the cross-examination?  Thank you.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly.  The company's proposal is that the revenue requirement approved by the Board be implemented in rates, but effective January 1, and the manner in which it would be implemented would be through a change in rates going forward to the end of the calendar year, as well as a rate rider that would be applicable on volumes consumed for the remainder of the year, from when the rates become implemented.

     To give you an example, if this were to happen along with the July 1 QRAM, then the rates going forward from July 1 would incorporate the recovery of the revenue deficiency.  As well, there were be a rate rider that would recover the portion that would have been recoverable from 

January 1 to June 30th, on a forward-looking basis.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And that rate rider would be based on what, the forecast volumes for the six months or the actuals?  How would it work?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  It would be calculated based on forecast volumes for the six months but recovered over actual volumes consumed.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And there would be no variance account?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  In the event that the Board finds a revenue deficiency that is less than $26 million, then what does the agreement say in your reading?  That that $26 million is not to be touched?  

Mr. Stevens, maybe that's a question for you.  Maybe just remind me what the understanding is.

     MR. STEVENS:  I believe the understanding of all parties, Member Vlahos, was that in the event the revenue deficiency awarded at the end of the case is less than 26 million, then it will be treated as if there is a sufficiency as of the date of implementation of the Board's order.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.

     MR. STEVENS:  To make up for the difference between what you order and the $26 already in the course of being collected.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you for that.  

Sorry, Mr. DeVellis.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

Mr. Chair, I handed out a compendium of documents earlier today which we were about to mark as an exhibit and we never did.

     MR. MILLAR:  It's Exhibit K14.5, Mr. Chair.

     EXHIBIT NO. K14.5:  COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS FOR THE 

SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION FOR ISSUE 9.1

     MR. MILLAR:  For the clarity of the record, that's the compendium of documents for the School Energy Coalition for issue 9.1.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, Panel.  My name is John DeVellis.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.  I'm going to begin with some background on the issue of retroactive rates in Ontario.  Do either of you on the panel recall there was an uproar a few years ago regarding a retroactive rate increase that had been approved for Union Gas around 2002?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I have a recollection that there was some press about the full account clearing by Union Gas with respect to gas costs.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, I'm going to refer you to a statement made in the Legislature by Mr. Duncan, who was an opposition member.  And that can be found at the third page of my compendium of documents, and that is from the October 1, 2002 Hansard.

     It starts about the middle of the third page there.  And Mr. Duncan was presenting a petition to the Legislature, the first part of his statement, just detailing -- is setting out the details of the retroactive charge, but then, about the third paragraph in he says:

"Whereas this retroactive charge will affect the customers who receive Union Gas, including new homeowners and new customers to Union Gas.  Therefore, we demand that the Ernie Eves government issue a policy directive under section 27.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act disallowing the retroactive rate hike granted to Union Gas, and we further demand that the Legislature examine the Ontario Energy Board, its processes and its resources and make changes that would protect consumers from further retroactive rate increases."


Then he says:

"I am honoured to sign my name to this petition."


Do you see that there?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And then, I suppose, in response to that, the government, at the time the Conservative government, introduced a bill in 2003 called the Ontario Energy Board Consumer Protection Act, which provided certain amendments to the Ontario Energy Board Act.  


And let me read you what the then‑energy minister, Mr. Baird, had to say.  And I'll refer you to page 6.  And this is the May 6, 2003 Hansard transcript.  

The third paragraph from the bottom of page 6 of my compendium, Mr. Baird is introducing the legislation and says:

"Finally, this legislation addresses the issue of retroactive decisions.  This has been an area of significant public interest.  If passed, this legislation would ensure that the Board makes decisions within meaningful time frames.  Having to pay retroactive amounts is difficult for consumers and this legislation would effectively eliminate retroactive charges that sit and accumulate month after month."


Do you see that there?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And the last -- if you could turn to page 15 of my compendium; that is, the June 17th, 2003 Hansard.  There is a statement at the bottom of that page by Ms. Dombrowski, who was an opposition member at the time.

And at the very last paragraph on that page:

"The third issue I hear a great deal about in my riding is when a natural gas company sends its customers notification that they would be responsible for retroactive payments.  People believe that this is bad faith business; that they had paid their bills in good faith with an understanding that that was what they owed, only to find out some time later that they were going to be billed again for that energy."


And then she goes on to say that she doesn't believe that there could be, at the time, current legislation that would address those concerns.  But, in any case, all that was by way of background.


You're aware that there is a general distaste among consumers for retroactive rate increases; would you agree with that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would suggest that these comments refer to the manner in which we clear deferral accounts for the commodity cost of gas, and the manner in which that is regulated is that the utility is not allowed to make a profit or a loss on the manner in which gas is procured on behalf of its system customers, and that, by necessity, means that the customer has to keep a deferral account in order to clear balances.  


And I believe this legislation was -- at the time the issue, in the event, was addressing that specific question of how to clear the deferral account related to that element.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But do you agree with the general sentiment that the issue that the legislation was addressing and that these comments were addressed to was the issue of consumers paying in the future for consumption that they had consumed in the past?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I agree.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And do you agree with that the Board also has a general policy against retroactive rate increases? 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm not aware of ‑‑ I haven't seen a statement to that effect.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I understand you filed your 2007 rate application with the Board on August 15, 2006; is that right?


MR. HOEY:  I didn't hear the date.


MR. DeVELLIS:  August 15, 2006.


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And your 2000 ‑‑ your application for the 2006 rates was filed in around March 2005; is that about right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  I think it was around the 1st of March.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If you find differently, you can correct me.


And that hearing, your 2006 hearing, concluded in November, and a decision was not released until February 2006?


MR. HOEY:  It was released on February 9th, 2006, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And I believe you said, in response to an interrogatory from Board Staff - you don't have to turn it up - that in order to have rates in place from January 1st, 2007, you would have had to have filed your application by January 2006?


MR. HOEY:  Under the typical guidelines that the Board uses for doing an annual rate increase in that, and to implement the rates, have a decision, a rate order so that you can actually implement the rates on January 1, 2007, that would be about the right time frame.  It would be very close to the ‑‑ sometime in January.  It's an 11, 11-1/2 months' process.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So when you filed your application in August of 2006 for the 2007 year, you had no expectation that the rates would actually be implemented by January 1, 2007?


MR. HOEY:  I don't know about saying that I had no expectation.  I thought that there might be ‑‑ well, we were hoping there would be some expectation.  If we were able to get to a settlement agreement on a relatively quick basis, there would have been a possibility of getting those rates in place on everything.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Given your past experience at the Board, that was highly unlikely; would you agree with that?


MR. HOEY:  My past practice?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, Enbridge's or your past experience.


MR. HOEY:  Well, my personal past practice is I have been able to come to settlements, full settlements, with intervening parties.  But in recent history with Enbridge, no, that hasn't been the case -- well, except I shouldn't say that.  In 2004, there was a full settlement, my understanding.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm going to turn now to the process and time line leading up to your filing of this application, beginning with your initial budget letter in June of 2005.  And I believe there's a copy at Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 4.


MR. MILLAR:  Could I have the exhibit again, sorry?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 4, page 1.


MR. HOEY:  Yes, we have that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  It's back one more page.  Right.  Thank you.


And what you say in the first paragraph is that:

"The budget process leading to the formation of the 2007 regulatory budget started with the issue of the budget letter on June 6, 2005."


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And I believe a copy of that letter is found at Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1.


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  Yes, it is.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And you see at page 8 of that document, you have ‑‑ yes, page 8 at the bottom, you have a schedule for the application, and the last line was "Rate application November 15th."


MR. HOEY:  2005.  For 2007 application, yes.  So that kind of works with the other answer I gave that, you know, it has to be right around the end of the 12‑month process in advance.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  That was going to be my question. So in view of your answer to the Board Staff No. 82, is it fair to say that you were working towards filing by in or around that time in order to have rates in place for January 1, '07?


MR. HOEY:  Correct, if we also had a decision on the 2006 rate case in our hands before that, so that we could build the budget up.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, on that point, if you would go to page 2 of the budget letter, the same exhibit, you have referenced there under paragraph 3, "Operating and maintenance expense budget."   

The second sentence says:

"As each department prepares its operating and maintenance expense budget for 2007, ensure you are targeting costs which are consistent with the 2006 budget levels adjusted for inflation and, where applicable, customer growth."

     There is no reference there to “awaiting a decision for the 2006 case”?

     MR. HOEY:  No, but that's the 2006 budget, is what was filed in the rate case.  It would have to be readjusted.  Once the Board's decision comes out, the budget for 2006 is effectively overwritten by the Board's decision.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'd ask you to turn to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 82.  That's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 82.  And I'm going to be referring to two interrogatory responses primarily, and that's this one along with Exhibit I, tab 16, schedule 62.  If you can possibly hold them both open.

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I have those.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, in Board Staff 82, you're discussing, it looks like, some of the reasons why the application couldn't have been ready in the fall of 2005.  

The first one I'd like to ask you about is the minimum filing requirements.  What you say on page 2 of Board Staff 82 is that implementation of the Board's minimum filing requirements -- in the last sentence:

"Requires substantial work to transform the company's previous approach and format to rate case filings to conform to the Board's new expectations."

In response to School Energy Coalition 62, page 1, in the first paragraph of your response, you say:

“It is not the company's submission that the implementation of the minimum filing requirements created a delay in the filing of the 2007 rate application in any material way ..."

     Can I ask you to explain that, first of all, because in Board Staff 82 you seem to be implying there was an impact in terms of timing, as a result of the minimum filing requirements, but then in School Energy Coalition 62 you say there was not.

     MR. HOEY:  If I looked at the Board Staff's question under number 82, they're asking what would be the typical time line for an application for the 2007 rate case.  

What I was doing was laying out the time line there.  And given that the minimum filing requirements were introduced and would apply first to the 2007 application, had we been going through the process, the normal process, we would have had to build in some time for the minimum filing requirements.

     Given, in schedule 62, Exhibit I, tab 16, schedule 62, this was in reference to what actually did happen.  And since we had the minimum filing requirements, we started adjusting them in early 2006.  Because we didn't file until August, as you can see at the bottom, an example would be that the historical year financial statements; and that -- well, they have already been published, so there isn't an issue there of what I'll call meeting the minimum filing requirements.

     If you go under the Board Staff interrogatory, if the minimum filing requirements are to be maintained - and you are taking that one example; you have to put in a applicant's financial statements for the previous year - they won't be issued 'til well after, probably, February 15th -- between February 15th and the 1st of March.  So technically, to meet the minimum filing requirements, you wouldn't be filing until sometime in February or March.  That could potentially cause a delay off the normal cycle, if you say the normal cycle is to file in January.  

So there is a timing thing here, in terms of whether the minimum filing requirements could have an impact on a normal cycle versus, in the particular case of this 2007, given the time we did file, it actually didn't, because all the information that we could put together was available by the time we'd got past the end of 2006.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Another issue you mention in your response to Board Staff number 82, the Generic DSM proceeding, and that's at the bottom of page 2, going on to page 3 of schedule 82.  Tell me when the DSM proceeding commenced.

     MR. HOEY:  I think it's there at the bottom of page 2, March of 2006.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Would there ever have been a dedicated group within EGD which was responsible for preparing the evidence for that proceeding?

     MR. HOEY:  For DSM?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

     MR. HOEY:  There's a group of witnesses that did that, from the opportunity development group and regulatory staff, as well, that were assigned to that case.  But if you mean dedicated as 100 percent, that's all they had to do, no.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  No, that's not what I meant.  I meant if there was a discrete group within the company preparing the DSM proceeding.

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  But they also had other responsibilities at the same time.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, of course.  So that wouldn't have impacted, for example, preparing O&M budgets or capital expenditure budgets?

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, it would.  The people who are involved in the DSM, one, they're also involved in preparing portions of the opportunity development budget, both capital and O&M; they're key witnesses in the evidence that's filed in this case, so they would have had to do both the DSM proceeding, plus they may also be involved in the marketing side of the company evidence; and as well as the DSM portion of the budget is a key component of the total O&M of the company anyways.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now I'd like to turn to the time line between the date of release of the Board's decision in the 

2006 rates case and the date of filing of the 2007 application.

     There is a series of e-mails at Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 4, attachment 1.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you tell me, first of all, how you selected these particular e-mails for filing? 

MR. HOEY:  The e‑mails that are chosen here are what I'll call more of the ‑‑ what I'll call instructional type of e‑mail leading ‑‑ telling people when they have to file certain pieces, and then -- that's at a more generic general level.  And then when we get down to specific issues that are still left to be filed and confirmed and adjusted in the budgets, then there's e‑mails at a more detailed level of, We need to correct this or we need to adjust for that as we go along.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, let me turn you to the first e‑mail in the series.  That's dated March 20th, 2006, and it's at page 1 of the attachment.


MR. HOEY:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And that is from Anne Urquhart.


MR. HOEY:  Sorry?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm sorry, Annette Urquhart.  


MR. HOEY:  Oh, I'm sorry, I have the wrong page.  

Yes, it is.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And what Ms. Urquhart says in the second paragraph is:

"There is a need to revisit the operating costs and capital expenditures forecasted for 2007, given that the original 2007 regulatory budget submissions were completed prior to receiving the 2006 OEB decision."


Do you see that there?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I take from that that there was something ready before the 2006 decision was released.


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  That was -- in your earlier question, we talked about the memo of June 5th -- June 2005.  The parties were instructed to fill in the budget formats at that time.  We went through that list.  Then it was held -- it was held in that format until the Board's decision came out.


And now what Ms. Urquhart is suggesting is that you now have to go back and revisit those numbers, given what the Board has said in its decision and given the numbers that have come from the Board's decision.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and in the next series of e‑mails, we'll see what those changes were, I take it?


MR. HOEY:  Yes, certainly we'd see some of them.  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, before I go to those, at the top of the first paragraph of the March 20th e‑mail, it says:

"Khalix insight will be available to update the 2007 regulatory budget from March 21st to March 29th."


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  First of all, what is "Khalix insight"?


MR. HOEY:  It is the budgeting computer model that we use that the individual department managers all feed into, and then it's totalled up by the finance department.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And what is the significance of the March 21st to March 29th dates?


MR. HOEY:  Well, what they do is so that ‑‑ it's what we call -- we open up the system to allow for changes.  So it was opened on March 21 and it was closed on March 29th.  So you only had those days to put the numbers in, and then the system closes down so that you can't do adjustments.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Does that mean that a revised budget was to have been done by March 29th?


MR. HOEY:  The departmental revised budgets were to have been put into the system by March 29th, correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And the next e‑mail is March 30th.  That's on the next page of the exhibit, on page 2 of the attachment, and this e‑mail from Melanie Dwarka attaches a new 2007 regulatory budget for filing.


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  That is the number of new additional customers that will come on the system, where they will come on the system within the different regions, what type of customers they will be, and what type of rate class they will be.  So it's at a very detailed level.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So is this in response to the 2006 decision?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And it's ‑‑


MR. HOEY:  Plus it's also updating the numbers that were put in in June 2005, given the time change.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And this update is for customer additions only?


MR. HOEY:  That is what it says on the e‑mail.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The next e‑mail I want to ask you about is at page 15 of the attachment.  That's an e‑mail dated May 8th, 2006.


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  From Mr. Ladanyi.  

And can you tell me what happened between March 30th and May 15th?


MR. HOEY:  Sure.  If we turn back to Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1 and page 6 of that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MR. HOEY:  So in terms of -- this is the schedule we were looking at earlier.  

In terms of the process that we'd go through, is that, as it points out, the first thing that was done was the customer additions, and then the next thing that happens on the O&M expense and capital budget is that Khalix is opened and the departmental budgets are put in, and then it closes back down.  And then what you do is you have individual department reviews to make sure that the executive is happy with the numbers.  They can be adjusted up or down, and then ‑‑ and also there's capital reviews on a departmental level.


And then what will happen is that, if you follow the time series that goes on after that on the next page, you'll see that what happens is that there's an overall review at a higher level, at a company level.  


So on page 8, you'll start to see that, you know, final budget to regulatory affairs was September 27th, but what's happening in the period is that we've gone from a departmental review to an overall company review.  And the note on the e‑mail from Mr. Ladanyi on schedule 2, tab 2, schedule 4, page 15 clearly points it out.  


And what it says, that our current draft of the 2007 regulatory capital budget is totalling $550 million.  So all the departments added up and they don't know what each other is asking for.  They totalled it all up and it came to 550, and it says we've now reviewed it at an EMT level and we want to have that reduced by 50 million.


So now you have to go back in on a department basis and we have to reduce it 50 million, and we have to move projects around or delay projects from this year to the next year, and then it has to be adjusted at a detail level within the budget scenario.


So it's a process.  It's an iterative process of individual department budgets being created, reviewed at a total level, and sent back to be changed, and that could take a number of iterations.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So let me just try and summarize the process.


You had -- can I call it a placeholder capital budget by late 2005, while you were awaiting the results on the 2006 rate proceeding?


MR. HOEY:  I think that would be fair to say, yes.  There was a preliminary budget put in for 2007 in 2005.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And then were there further adjustments?  After reviewing the 2006 decision, you made further adjustments?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  So the first thing that happened after was that people looked at the Board's decision, then went back into their individual departments, adjusted based upon what the comments were from the Board on certain capital items and projects that were going to go forward in 2006, and did that impact what they were going to ask for in 2007.  


They then adjusted it on a departmental basis, and that was inputted into the system by the 1st of April.


The finance department then accumulated all the different departments together, put it into a corporate -- what I'll call a company overall budget.  And then it was ‑‑ now we were reviewing what -- is that total appropriate to move forward for an application?  


The answer that came back on May 5th was ‑‑ or May 8th, sorry, was, No, it needs to be adjusted downward, and now you have to go back in.  We're going to open up Khalix again, and you're going to have to take it back down.  We'll give you some assistance and some guidance in particular areas to help you get that down, but you as departments are going to have to make priority calls as to what is to go forward and what is not.  We'll total it back up again and see if we've made the total. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So this would have been the third revision from the original.

     MR. HOEY:  That, yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  What Mr. Ladanyi says is, about the third line from his e-mail:

“EMT are concerned about the result in rate impact on our customers and have decided that the overall capital budget should be reduced by at least $50 million."

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you tell us how you arrived at the $50 million, or how Mr. Ladanyi --

     MR. HOEY:  He said “at least 50 million,” and I believe we ended up filing for 478 million, so we cut it even further.  But that was the first tranche of, Let's see what projects people are going to pull away to get the 50 million.  It was to put it back to the departmental managers to justify why the project had to go forward in 2007, versus another year.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Ladanyi asked for the revisions by May 12th?

     MR. HOEY:  That's what it says in his e-mail, yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And then on May 15th, we see an e-mail from ... sorry.  May 19th, an e-mail from Ms. Au.  That's on page 24 of the attachment.

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I see that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry, if you could turn to page 26.  

Is this the revised capital expenditure budget?

     MR. HOEY:  It looks like it.  It says:  "Draft 2 May 

17th.”

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Right, and we see the total capital expenditures are now 499 million.

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And that's reduced from the original number of 550 million.

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  That's approximately the $50 million that Mr. Ladanyi said that EMT was seeking.

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  This was the third iteration, I suppose, of the capital budget?

     MR. HOEY:  Okay, I don't know whether it's three or four now.  And it won't be the last one.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  There may have been additional revisions, but based on the time line we discussed earlier, we had the original late 2005 amount, we had the first revision in early 2006, after seeing the 2006 rate decision, and then this further reduction to 500 million on 

May 17th.

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  I think the time lines, I would agree with you, there was one that was done in the summer of 2005, June/July.  The next one would have been in March, end of March/1st of April, 2006.  Then there would have been one around the 1st of May.  And then there's this one.  And there would definitely be changes, because we didn't file for 499 million.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm going to ask about that, but before I get there, I'm going to ask about changes to the O&M budget.  There's an e-mail on May 15th, 2006, from Ms. Kelly.

     MR. HOEY:  Do you have a page?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry, page 23.

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  I have that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And there are two e-mails.  Ms. Kelly is seeking changes to the O&M budget by May 18th.

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  If we go to page 34 of the exhibit, we'll see the revised O&M budget -- I'm sorry.  The revised O&M budget is shown at page 37.  That's attached to an    e-mail from Ms. Kelly dated May 26th.

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I believe so.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And that amount is 369 million.

     MR. HOEY:  That is correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And the amount you ultimately filed for was 364 million.

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Correct.  The reason for the subsequent $5 million -- the change between that figure and the amount you filed for in August was a pension issue?

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  As of May 26th, you have an O&M budget which is substantially similar to the one you filed in August, except for the $5 million?

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Your capital budget was 499 million as of mid to late May, and you ultimately filed for, I believe, 474 million? 

     MR. HOEY:  That is correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, can I ask you to turn to the last page of that exhibit, page 46.  This was an e-mail from 

Mr. Ladanyi dated July 5, 2006.  

Mr. Ladanyi says in the first paragraph he was:

"... just informed that Jim Schultz had decided that the 2007 capital budget must be changed to remove the storage growth initiatives of approximately $29.1 million."

     Do you see that?

     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I see that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Schultz was the president of 

Enbridge Gas at the time?

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And the storage growth initiatives, if we go back to page 16 of the exhibit -- do you see them in row F?  They total $35.7 million.  Column 6? 


MR. HOEY:  Yes, I see that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And that’s an increase over 2006 of 29.3 million. 

MR. HOEY:  Yes, I see that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Over in the next column.  Okay.  And if you turn to page 26 of the exhibit - this is the revised budget, the draft 2 budget - May 17th, row F, we see that the underground storage initiatives are still there.

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  They survived the various rounds of capital expenditure changes leading up to May 17th?

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  What were the storage growth initiatives?


MR. HOEY:  Those initiatives are where the ‑‑ was the capital associated with underground storage that would be for what is now going to be the unregulated side of the company, so the NGEIR.


So this was a result of what was being filed in NGEIR.    The two filings had to match now.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MR. HOEY:  And when you change ‑‑ just so everyone understands, if you change the O&M budget in how it flows into the rate filing, it's relatively easy to adjust; but when you do the capital, it changes a tremendous number of pages in the filing, because now your whole capital structure changes.  You have to change your debt/equity ratios to accommodate down to the new ‑‑ may adjust for what you may be filing for, financing.  There's tax implications.


It's the reason why Mr. Ladanyi says that "Mr. Schultz informed", because when we get this close, unless it's coming from that high up, we're not changing the capital budget, because it's just too much work and it moves the time line back.


But it had to be ‑‑ the two filings had to be consistent with what we were filing in NGEIR and what we were filing in the main rate case.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And you'll agree with me that the only major ‑‑ only real difference between the May ‑‑ the capital budget that was available on May 17th and the budget you ultimately filed in August, August 15th, was this change to the storage growth initiative or the elimination of the storage growth initiative?


MR. HOEY:  I think, though, at the same time, there was some adjustment to CIS.  So there's ‑‑ because we were going in and going to touch one, we could touch another thing at the same time.


But that would be ‑‑ that was the main driver of it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But the substantial change was the elimination of the storage growth initiative?


MR. HOEY:  Sure.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And was there an e‑mail from Mr. Schultz, a directive from Mr. Schultz, saying that you had to cut out the storage growth initiatives?


MR. HOEY:  I don't know, but I note I was at a meeting where Mr. Schultz informed Mr. Ladanyi.  So I don't know if there was a follow‑up, but I was at a meeting where Mr. Schultz told Mr. Ladanyi to pull it out, so ...


MR. HOEY:  Okay.  Can you ask Mr. Ladanyi how he was informed, and, if that was in writing, to produce a copy of it?


MR. HOEY:  Sure.  I can undertake to have Mr. Ladanyi look at that.


MR. MILLAR:  That's undertaking J14.5.


Mr. DeVellis, just so it's entirely clear, could you state the undertaking?


MR. HOEY:  Yes, to inquire of Mr. Ladanyi how he was informed by Mr. Schultz that the 2007 capital budget had to be changed to remove storage growth initiatives, and, if it was in writing, to produce a copy of the communication.


UNDERTAKING NO. J14.5:  INQUIRE OF MR. LADANYI HOW HE 

WAS INFORMED BY MR. SCHULTZ THAT 2007 CAPITAL BUDGET 

HAD TO BE CHANGED TO REMOVE STORAGE GROWTH INITIATIVES AND PRODUCE ANYTHING PRODUCED IN WRITING TO THAT EFFECT

MR. HOEY:  As I said, I do know he was told verbally, because I was at the same meeting where it was discussed.  So he was at least told verbally, for sure.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, could I ask you to turn to page 30 of our compendium.


MR. HOEY:  Yes, I have that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And this is a copy of your prefiled in evidence in the NGEIR proceeding.  It says “EB‑2005‑0551” at the top there.  And I've included, for completeness, the entire Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 1, but I'm only going to refer you to the last paragraphs on page 30 ‑‑ page 14 of the original exhibit, page 30 of our compendium.


And what you say in the beginning of the second paragraph or what the company says in the beginning of the second sentence of paragraph 43 is:

"In 2006, Ontario faced a situation where there will be no significant new storage developed unless economic deregulation occurs for all newly developed gas storage regardless of the corporate entity that develops it.  No prudent company, utility, or otherwise will take on the risk of a new storage development without the commensurate rates of return."


Then going on to paragraph 4:

"Given all of the above, in the view of Enbridge Gas Distribution, a decision in this rates case that does not refrain from regulating utilities' rates and returns for new storage development will serve to constrain and perhaps even frustrate the legislative objective of rationale development of gas storage in Ontario."


Do you see that there?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And then in oral testimony during the proceeding, you were asked about this issue in direct examination ‑‑ or your witnesses were, in direct examination.  And I've included an excerpt from the transcript, volume 6 of the NGEIR transcript, dated June 30th, 2006.  


If you can turn to page 38 of my compendium, which is page 23 of the June 30th transcript, Mr. Grant is responding to a question from Mr. Cass, beginning at line 20, and he says:

"In a non‑forbearance outcome of this proceeding, the issue is quite complex and problematic for our bill proposal, and that is simply because the explanation is riskier than normal for us to build and it would involve no incremental compensation for us that is higher than a cost of service type of rate.  Secondly, it wouldn't reflect the market value that we believe is out there for this particular service."


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, I believe you're going a little too fast.  I'm watching the transcribers having difficulty.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I beg your pardon.  Do you want me to repeat that?

"In a non‑forbearance outcome of this proceeding, the issue is quite complex and problematic for our bill proposal, and that is simply because the expansion is riskier than normal for us to build and it would involve no incremental compensation for us that is higher than a cost of service type of rate."


And then in the next paragraph:

"So as a result, in a non‑forbearance outcome, what we ..."


It goes on to the next page:

"... would propose to do is to make reasonable efforts to procure high deliverability service in the marketplace ..."


And that was on June 30th, 2006, which is a Friday, as I recall?


MR. HOEY:  I don't know if it was a Friday.  Sorry.


MR. STEVENS:  I can assist you, Mr. DeVellis.  I believe it was the day before the long weekend, in any event.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The day before the long weekend, and the next business day would have been the Tuesday following, which would have been July 4th, which was ‑‑ and this e‑mail from Mr. Ladanyi was July 5th?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And then on July 5th ‑‑ I'm sorry, July 10th of the transcript, and subject to check, this was the next day of the NGEIR hearing, so it's volume 7.  And the EGD panel wasn't finished on the 30th, so they returned on July 10th.  


And the panel was asked -- if you turn to page 44 of my compendium, which is page 89 of the transcript, Mr. Thompson asked:

"Has Enbridge Gas Distribution done any studies to date with respect to the potential out there what the costs would be, what the returns would be?  Has it embarked on any of this development?"


And Mr. Grant replied:  "No, we have not."


Do you see that there?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, my question is:  How could that be correct if you had a capital budget as of July 5th showing storage growth initiatives of $35 million, which was a $29 million increase over the previous year and which you only changed in the middle of the NGEIR proceeding?


MR. HOEY:  If we stay on your page 44 of your compendium and go to the top, at line 2, Mr. Thompson asks:

"In terms of Enbridge Gas Distribution, apart from the build that you're describing in this case, do you have any development plans, storage development plans?"


And Mr. Grant's answer is:  "No.”  

The $29 million was not for development of a new storage pool.  It was the development plan from the build plan that Mr. Thompson is describing there.  So that is the 29 million.  It's for piping and some well drill.  It is not for exploration for new pools and development of a new pool.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  What was the justification for removing that spending from your capital budget on July 5th?

     MR. HOEY:  Because in our evidence in NGEIR, we were saying that we were going to build that as a non-utility under forbearance.  And you can't have $29 million that you're going to do in a non-forbearance inside the regulated utility.  It had to be removed from the regulated utility budget for 2007.  That's what the note did.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, I'm sorry, you have to help me to understand so I can follow you.  How is all this related to implementation rates?  Help me understand this so I can follow your reasoning.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, I apologize if I wasn't clear.

     The lines of questions are designed to show that there was a completed capital budget and a completed O&M budget as of May of 2006.  The only substantial difference between the figures that were available in May 2006 and the ultimate figure that was filed in August was this change to the storage growth initiative of the capital budget.

     What Mr. Hoey seems to be indicating is that it was done to be consistent with EGD's position in the NGEIR proceeding.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, I understand that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Does that assist you?

     MR. VLAHOS:  It has taken a long time to get there.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I apologize, I was trying to establish the relevance, but I'm obviously not doing a good enough job.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And so, Mr. Hoey, I take from your answer, then, that the reason for the reworking of the capital budget in July, with the result that the application wasn't filed until August, was so that EGD's evidence was consistent with your evidence that you filed in the NGEIR proceeding?

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  

Mr. Millar.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chair.  I was distracted for a moment.

     Good afternoon, Panel.  Mr. DeVellis has covered some of the ground I had intended to go over, so hopefully I will be relatively quick.

     I think I'll be referring probably to only one exhibit, and that is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 82.  This is a document Mr. DeVellis was referring to.  It's a response to an interrogatory from Board Staff.

     Before I make any specific reference to that, would you agree with me -- or I'll assume you'll agree with me that it's preferable not to do retroactive rates if that can be avoided?

     MR. HOEY:  If it can be avoided, yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And would you agree with me that if the delay in filing is the fault of the company, that ratepayers shouldn't bear the consequences of that if the company is at fault?  

     MR. HOEY:  You would have to define what you mean by 

"fault."

     MR. MILLAR:  Let's imagine --

     MR. HOEY:  I'll call it ... well, gross mismanagement.  Sure, I could understand that.

     MR. MILLAR:  I guess let's imagine the Board made a finding that Enbridge should have filed four months early, or something like that.  They go through all the evidence and say, You really could have done this faster.  You could have got this in four months earlier.  Would you agree that a result of that would be that ratepayers shouldn't bear the consequence of the late filing?  Not to say they will make a late filing, but if they did.

MR. HOEY:  If the Board made that finding, I'd assume they would also make the determination of what would or would not be recoverable from ratepayers.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Hoey.

     In response to Board Staff IR number 82, you were asked when you would have had to file in the normal course of things to get a rate order in time for January 1st, 2007.  Your answer to that was early in January 2006; is that correct?

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  If I look at page 2 of that document, at the top paragraph, you say:

"The requirements under the minimum filing requirements for historical, bridge, and test year data would typically have required the company to begin preparing the 2007 rate application evidence in October 2005."

     Do I take it from that that it takes approximately three months to put an application together?

     MR. HOEY:  I would say at what I'll call final approvals, putting all the stuff together.  But if you were going to include what I'll call build up the budget, it was along the time lines that we were expecting to do, which was back in June of 2005.  That's how we were targeting our way towards the end.

     MR. MILLAR:  That's where you would start the budgeting process.

     MR. HOEY:  That's where you would start the budgeting process.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

     MR. HOEY:  So early summer.

     MR. MILLAR:  So including budgeting, I guess it takes about six months?

     MR. HOEY:  About six months.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Obviously you couldn't finalize your application until you had the Board's decision for the last rate case in 2006.  The decision came out on February 9th, 06; is that correct?

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Was there any information that you needed to have then that you didn't -- sorry.  Let me rephrase.

     Was there any information that you needed that you didn't have at that time?

     MR. HOEY:  I guess at a high level, no.  The decision had the direction of the Board and what was the result.  But if we remember what the Board's decision was, that the capital budget was $300 million, the company decided what projects it wants to do it on and it said that the O&M budget was - or a portion of it - was $176 million, and the company apportioned that between the departments.  

So we had the high level what I'll call direction, but now you have to translate that down into a department-by-department budget, so you have to now start splitting that all up.

     That takes a process and a time too, because, under the filings, what you do is you're going to compare one year to the next and where the variances are on a department-by-department basis.  So you need to go back and literally redo your entire 2006 budget from scratch, given the Board's overall guidance.

     So you have to also then do priorities, and so there's a lot of work in terms of taking what I'll call the high-level decisions and then putting it into an operational budget for the year.

     MR. MILLAR:  If I have you correctly, you have the information you need, but there's just an awful lot of processing that has to be done to turn it into a 2007?

     MR. HOEY:  There is, yes.  The first thing we do is we focus on getting the rate order, and with regards to capital, in that area, when it was given a limit like that, we take some general big swaths and just say, This is where we're going to try to target the budget.  But then the detail budget review comes after that, and you go through project-by-project to figure out exactly where those capital dollars would have only been spent.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

     MR. HOEY:  Then you also need to know what those final rates are for '06 to create what I'll call the revenue deficiency, or sufficient that you are going to be filing under for the next rate case.

     MR. MILLAR:  That was all done for April 1st, 2006?

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  It takes a good six weeks, six to eight weeks, to get it all approved and through the Board system.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

     I'm going to skip over a chunk here because 

Mr. DeVellis covered some of it.

     Now, you filed August 25th, 2006; is that correct?

     MR. HOEY:  The Procedural Order says August 25th.  The first, what we call Phase I evidence went in August 15th.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

     MR. HOEY:  And Phase II evidence landed on the 25th.  

That's when the Procedural Order came out under the filing guidelines.  It's when the case is complete at that point.  And it was deemed complete.

     MR. MILLAR:  Although, I guess, the Board deemed that the application was complete, there were still a couple of outstanding matters; is that fair to say?  

Evidentiary items?

     MR. HOEY:  Yes.  There was actually evidentiary outstanding until yesterday, I believe.

     MR. MILLAR:  I'll get to that.

     MR. HOEY:  And there still may be evidence outstanding; who knows?

     MR. MILLAR:  I don't want to hear that.  One of the things was Open Bill Access; is that right?

     MR. HOEY:  Open Bill, yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me what the cause of the delay was for the Open Bill Access portion?

     MR. HOEY:  The Open Bill, under the Board's decision in 2006, the Board suggested that the company on key issues develop a consultative process with the intervenors.  And Open Bill had one of those consultatives.

     Under the RCAM methodology, the corporate cost allocation methodology, that consultative was actually directed by the Board that the intervenors be involved, so that is one of the directives that we must fulfill in filing the 2007 rate case.


MR. MILLAR:  Just so I'm clear, the Open Bill consultative, was that mandated by the Board or was that something the company chose to do?


MR. HOEY:  No, it wasn't mandated by the Board, but it was strongly encouraged by the Board.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  And you filed that evidence earlier December, if I'm not mistaken?


MR. HOEY:  I believe that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, corporate cost allocation, the study that you mentioned -- yes, there was a Board Staff interrogatory.  I don't think we need to pull it up unless you disagree with what I say.  It was asked when that report ‑‑ study would be filed, and the indication from the company at that time was early December.  


And I think we've just discussed that that was filed  -- it was actually filed earlier this week; is that right?


MR. HOEY:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So maybe first you can help me with the delay to early December - I think it is early December - and then why it took about two-and-a-half or three months after that to get it filed.


MR. HOEY:  That is a report from an independent evaluator of ‑‑ so they're a third party, Meyers, Norris, Penny, out of Calgary.  They produced an initial draft report in early December and they have been -- both the intervenor group on the consultative and the company's representatives felt that the report was not complete in terms of addressing all the issues, and so there's been a number of major revisions to that report in the last two-and-a-half months.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Hoey.  I'm almost done.  

Just a couple of ‑‑ they're really clarification questions from some answers that I heard I think in response to Mr. Vlahos's question.  But let me make sure I understand.  I'll try and put it to you.  Mr. Battista's beside me here, helpfully, if I get this wrong.


But Mr. Vlahos asked you a question about the rate rider, I think, how the difference will be ‑‑ how the implementation of the retroactive portion works.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  And if I heard you correctly, it will be done by rate rider; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I believe there was a question regarding a variance account or a deferral account to capture any difference between the ‑‑ let me back up.


The rate rider is done on a volumetric forecast; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And what happens if that ‑‑ when the actuals come in?  Is that trued up?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, it's a risk that the company bears.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, it's also a risk the ratepayer bears; is that right?  It could go either way?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It could go either way; that's right.


MR. MILLAR:  So the rate rider might, in fact, be double the estimate or it might be half?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's highly unlikely.  You would have to sell twice the volume over that six‑month period.


What it is in reality is that the company designs its rates on a forecast basis.  It then proceeds to build those rates on actual volumes consumed.  So at the end of the year, unless the actual volumes come in exactly as budgeted, the revenues that the company realizes would typically not be for the revenue requirement, and that's the way this has always been designed.


When you've had rate riders implemented for situations such as this, we follow that same principle.  So the rate rider is calculated based on forecast volumes, so it makes the assumption that the volumes will come in as budgeted, and then it is applied to actual volumes.


So, of course, to the extent that the actual volumes are not what were forecast to be consumed over that six‑month period, you will have revenue recovery that's different.


MR. MILLAR:  I had thought there was a variance account, but I guess I'm wrong on that.  I thought there was some place where the utility typically put that difference, but if you are telling me I'm wrong, I'll certainly believe you.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, we don't.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

And, finally, the very last area.  This may almost be as much a question for Mr. Stevens as for you, but I'll put it to the panel and see who chooses to answer it.


Let's imagine that the Board says there will be no retroactivity whatsoever in this case; we're not allowing it, at all.


Now, of course there's already an element of the revenue requirement being built in through the interim rates that were set for January.  If the Board says no retroactivity at all, will that 5 -- I think it's about $5 million.  Will that money be refunded to ratepayers, or, as a result of the settlement conference, is that now off the table?  


And maybe ‑‑ it looks like Mr. Stevens may be the best person to answer that.


MR. HOEY:  I guess our first comment -- I'll let Mr. Stevens talk about the reality, but it is a rate rider that went prospectively forward.  It is not retroactive rate‑making.  The customers -- on April 1, customers started to pay a different rate.  That would be no different than had we not changed rates on January 1st.  It is prospective.  


So they have the opportunity to -- if they want to turn their temperature down in their house to reduce the impact of that, they have that ability to do that.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, it's not retroactive.  I think you're right - and thank you for that correction - but it is a rate increase based on elements that have not yet been tested through the hearing.  Is that fair to say?


MR. STEVENS:  I think it would be more fair to say that it's based on elements that parties agreed to in the settlement proposal.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, except for Schools, though?


MR. STEVENS:  To be fair, I think it would be fair to say that Schools did agree to all these elements.  They just didn't necessarily agree to this issue 9.1.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we can just make it as easy as this.  I assume there can be no claw‑back of that amount, of that $5 million.  That's -- that's not on the table anymore.  That's been accepted by the Board.  And maybe ‑‑ I see Mr. DeVellis may have something to say on that, as well.  I just want clarity on this or not.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I don't think that's our understanding of the settlement agreement.  The amounts are subject to the Board's decision on rate implementation.  If the Board decides that the rates are to be effective April 1st, then EGD would effectively lose the portion of January to April 1st.  That's our understanding of the settlement.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, maybe we can distinguish between implementation and effective date.  I think there may be a confusion there.  Okay?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  If the rates are to be effective April 1st, then EGD would effectively lose the portion of the increase that would be applicable to the January, February, March period.


MR. VLAHOS:  Is this the $5 million, Mr. Millar, that you're referring to?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Chair, I'm not sure where to go with this.  It may actually better be a matter for argument.  I don't know if there's more testimony we need on this.


MR. STEVENS:  I was going to suggest the same thing, Mr. Millar; that of course the company will put forth its argument-in‑chief, and then we will endeavour to respond to any arguments made, and perhaps it's better for us to do it on that sort of practical and tangible basis, rather than talking about concepts right now.


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's probably right.  It doesn't seem that there's more help that the witnesses could give us on this.  So if it's between the lawyers, then it's a matter of argument, I think.


Okay, thank you for your indulgence, witness panel and Board Panel, and those are our questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

Do you have anything, Mr. Buonaguro?


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Hoey, this may not be a direct quote, but you said something to the effect that it is not retroactive rate‑making; it is prospective.  And I think you referred to -- what?  You were referring to the specifics in this case, were you?


MR. HOEY:  That is correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  You're not referring, in general, to fact that we may be sitting here in August, or we may be receiving a decision in August, or an order in August, and that decision has a deficiency in it and it allows you to go back effectively on January 1st of that given year but you only implement the rates going forward.  


To you, is that retroactivity or not? 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In my opinion ‑‑ I'm not a lawyer, but in my opinion, that not retroactive rate‑making.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's not retroactivity?  What would be retroactivity, then?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In my view, in a rates case proceeding, we are looking at setting rates for the cost to serve our customers in the test year; and when the Board approves a revenue requirement, that's an acceptance of the cost to serve customers over the test year.


So when that revenue requirement is approved and implemented in rates, as long as a recovery of those costs happens within the test year, I have difficulty viewing that as retroactive rate‑making, because we're here to determine the cost to serve customers over the test year, to provide service over the test years.  That's why it's called test year cost‑of‑service rate‑making.  


So in my opinion, retroactivity would pertain to recovery of costs that are out of period.  And, for example, the Hansard example that Mr. DeVellis talked about were costs pertaining to the year 2001, 2002, which were then subsequently recovered in the year 2003.  To me, that did appear to be a case of retroactive rate‑making. 
     MR. VLAHOS:  I see.  A distinction you're making is that our period is something that is outside the test period.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Has the Board ever pronounced on this, Ms. Giridhar, saying exactly that?  Can you help me with that?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it's implicit in the manner in which we set rates.  

And if I may explain that:  Of course we can quibble upon what is the service period and what is the length of the service period; is it a day; is it a month.  To me, what we have is a billing period, generally, which happens to be a month.  

If we were of the view that a customer pays for service rendered when the service is rendered, then if you define the service period as being one month, and then the bill is rendered for services rendered in that month.  We don't have rates that do that today, because we're only assured of revenue recovery over a 12-month period, not on a monthly basis.  

In other words, we over-recover the cost to serve the customer in the winter months, and we under-recover in the summer months.  That's just the way rates have been set.

     In my opinion, the way that rates have been set have always been to ensure recovery of costs over a service period of a year.  That's implicit in the test year rate-making approach as well as the manner in which we set our rates.

     If we were to set our rates to recover the cost of serving a customer on a monthly basis and define that as a service period, we would, in fact, have a customer charge of something like $33 instead of $11.25 and we would have a very small volumetric charge.

     By definition, I do believe that the Board has approved the recovery of costs to serve the customer over a one-year period.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Just, perhaps, to touch on the unrealistic.  If the company were to file -- say the test year was 2007 and you file on December 2007.  Do I take it from your thinking, then, that the company has the right to seek an effective date of January 1, 2007?

     MR. KAISER:  Or if you collect it all in one day.

     MR. HOEY:  I guess, theoretically, if you could collect it on the last day of December 31, you could do that.

     I guess it all depends too - and my experience has been - were the rates interim or final during the period up to that time of filing.  If the rates weren't declared interim on January 1 of that year, then I don't believe there's any legal recourse to go back and change them.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So, Mr. Hoey, if the rates are declared interim, then it's axiomatic; the company then has the right to go back to the date of that --

     MR. HOEY:  It's not the company has the right.  

The Board has the right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. HOEY:  Because they're the ones that declared them interim.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Correct.  The Board has a right, because they’re maybe not -- what's the word?  Symmetric.  There may be an issue of symmetry or asymmetry here.

     MR. HOEY:  Could be.

     MR. VLAHOS:  But from the company perspective, as long as the rates are declared interim, then that is a permission, if you like, for the company to seek an effective date as of that date of declaration.  

     MR. HOEY:  I can only tell you from my experience of that that if you are applying going forward, that if you get into the test year and then if rates are declared final for that period, then I don't think there's -- the company has an opportunity to ask the Board to go back and change them.  They're final.

     In this particular case, the rates were declared interim for January 1.  I interpret that to mean that the Board is giving itself the option it can review that period, if it wished, and it will determine whatever rates should be applied during that period when it makes its final decision.

     It may be the same numbers that were already there; it may not be; but if they are final, I don't believe there's any legal recourse to go back and change them.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I don't think that's the issues.  The issues are, if they are interim, then they may be declared interim for both purposes, perhaps to allow the company to make an argument to go back to January 1st or the first day of the fiscal year, or allow the Board if there's a sufficiency that is found eventually, so that the ratepayer will not be out of any money.

     MR. HOEY:  Right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Those may be the two reasons that the rates are declared interim.

     MR. HOEY:  Sure.

     MR. VLAHOS:  What we're discussing here is the scenario where there is a deficiency found and the rights of the company to argue that issue go back to the 1st of the fiscal year.  That's what's on the table right now.

     MR. HOEY:  I'm trying to distinguish between what I'll call rate implementation versus, as Ms. Giridhar said, the period in which it applies over.

     I think the company would suggest that we can look at the period in which the rates should be set over a 12-month calendar period, or fiscal period, if you want it more correctly.

     But how you implement them, do you implement them by going back and recharging customers or do you implement them by collecting it over the remaining portion of the test period?  

Those have both been used in Ontario by different utilities at different times.  And some would argue that even though rates were interim and they went back and they readjusted them during that what I'll call the test period, that that was retroactive rate-making.  But I don't think anyone has ever declared that when you put a rate ride and you collect it on a go-forward basis, that anyone has ever declared that that is retroactive rate-making.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Because it's not out of period.  That's not --

     MR. HOEY:  It's not out of period.  And customers -- it's not going back and looking at what they did do.

     MR. VLAHOS:  There is a third school of thought, and 

I'm sure that both of you have studied it, and that is that the test year is not more than just a period of time, 12 months; in order to determine whether the rates are just and reasonable; and if they're not, what is the gap, and let's talk about revenue deficiency; and the rates are adjusted going forward, and they're supposed to be good forever until further notice.

     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sure that what I'm talking about is not strange to both of you.

     MR. HOEY:  No, that's --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  What's wrong with that thinking?

     MR. HOEY:  I'll let Ms. Giridhar --

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm trying to understand the question, but I think what we're talking about here is the determination, based on the economic circumstances of the company, that you need a certain set of rates to give you a just and reasonable revenue requirement for the operating period that we've come to you for, which is the period  

January 1, 2007 to December 31st, 2007.

     If I understand you correctly, you are asking me:  If a determination was made and final rates were implemented July 1st, what's wrong with the rates just going forward from July 1st into perpetuity at that level but no recovery from --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, they are going in perpetuity unless the company does apply again for a different test period.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  That test period doesn't have to be 12 months, starting January 1st.  It can be -- any period can be called a test period.  You are looking at this from a fiscal point of view, and I’m proposing to you from a test period point of view.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would suggest that the test period would always mimic the operating cycle of the company, which is the 12 months.  It may not be the 12 months from January 1 to December 13, but it would be a 12-month period, maybe July to June.  

And also in the experience of how rates have been set in this jurisdiction, they've always been set to recover costs over a 12-month period, partly because they're largely volumetric in nature and we have seasonal fluctuations in the way volumes are consumed.  But the definition of a test period, I would think, would be a 12-month operating cycle for the company.  It may not coincide with the fiscal reporting period that we have, but it would nevertheless be a 12-month period.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You're suggesting that if a decision by this Panel comes out, and again -- in November, I guess, a stretch - of this year - based on your model, then you need to recover the found deficiency over a two-month period plus whatever the rate rider would allow you to recover from April 1st in lieu of the $26 million?  

Do you follow me?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  As the rate implementation proposal --

     MR. VLAHOS:  What is the proposed deficiency by the company?  It was $144 million, or something to that effect?  And then because of the settlement proposal.  So what's left on the table, 80‑something million dollars?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.


MR. HOEY:  Yes, I believe.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, $82 million.  So if the Board's decision and order does not get out until late in the year, the expectation of the company is to recover potentially 82 million over a billing period?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I think I was making the distinction that recovery within the test year would not constitute retroactivity, and I think Mr. Hoey has indicated that the Board has implemented both types of methods in the past.  


In fact, if you look at the period 2000 to 2006, in the year 2000 the Board approved a prospective recovery similar to what we are proposing now; but in the other five, the Board approved a one‑time adjustment, which occurred within that 12‑month period, to recover costs for that period.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, but the prospective rate adjustment does not have to be only for one month or two.  It can extend beyond that.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It could.


MR. VLAHOS:  Twelve months, fourteen months, two years, whatever; right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  Because it's just a rate‑smoothing proposal at that point.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So what we've established, then, it's not retroactivity, because it is within the test year that you have applied for?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Based on your view.  And then just, finally, what is the impetus, the incentive for the company to file as early as possible?


MR. HOEY:  I think there's two large reasons.  One, this discussion itself, we consider this regulatory risk; and EGD's management considers that there is the possibility that the Board, having determined what the revenue deficiency is, whatever that number is, that we would not get full recovery by implementing rates partway through the year or through the test period.  And so that is a concern. 
And so we believe that there's that potential for that risk to occur, and so we do try to file as fast as we can.


But I think the other one, too, is, from a management point of view, is that it is a lot better for us to be ‑‑ to know the Board's decision before we enter the test year, and that the company can then manage accordingly.  We know what its budgets are going to be, what it has to do, and, for argument's sake, have 12 months to manage whatever issues it has to deal with in that time frame.  


If you make that period shorter and shorter, it leaves you less and less flexibility to manage within that.


So I believe that the company has two strong interests to move that date up, and I can ‑‑ I know in this case there was a lot of pressure to get this done as quickly as possible, given everything else that was going on at the same time.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sure, Mr. Hoey, you also meant to include the ratepayer impact in your --


MR. HOEY:  Well, and I mean -- and I think that is -- I didn't mean to slight that in any way.  It allows the ratepayer to properly plan how they want to operate their house, business, whatever, going forward, and that is a key consideration, too.


MR. VLAHOS:  Leaving the specifics of this case aside, it is possible, though, to -- you have a budget cycle which is, you know, supposed to end in a way that your regulatory filing would begin and be able to file on time so that you allow yourself the 11, 12 months, whatever it takes, and then the rest will be a matter of updates.  


And I realize some decisions, you know, are pretty key in terms of those updates, but why would you go to a cycle like that where it is automatically a certain month in a year, assuming you want to file for a future test year; that if the company does file, then it's just a matter of updates depending on what is coming down the pipe, the Board's decision, and then simply taking the decision and update it?


MR. HOEY:  Mr. Vlahos, I agree that that can be done.  And when I used to have this role in other companies, that was typical operating, the way that it happened.  When I came back into it, I was told that there is the ‑‑ that filing must be complete and that there is propensity not to update any of the evidence at any point in time.  


And so we've gotten strong encouragement not to update the file, like, to put in what I'll call an anchor application, and then update it in some significant manner some time later as the period goes forward.


So that's been the ‑‑ certainly ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  I would suggest that the updates would be because of exogenous factors like a Board decision.


MR. HOEY:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  That the Board decision itself would not delay the filing of the next application for the next test year, not that the company routinely would update because of new, you know, sales data.


MR. HOEY:  No.  And that's what I meant.  I meant key decisions that might impact the filing.  I wasn't suggesting it's just arbitrariness, but it would be key applications.  But what we've heard is that the Board, the intervenors and all parties, don't want major updates in the filing.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Hoey, just a couple of questions.


My understanding of the prohibition against retroactivity in law is that you cannot retroactively change a final order.  All the parties are entitled to rely on a final order, the customer and the company, but if rates are declared interim, you're on notice and the customer's on notice that they may be changed over whatever time you collect the deficiency, or overage that may arise; isn't that the case?  


MR. HOEY:  Mr. Chair, that's exactly the way I always understood it to be, too, and that's what I understood “retroactivity” to mean, was that you're changing a final order after it's already been declared.


MR. KAISER:  One related matter ‑‑ I should say “unrelated.”  You were at this meeting with Mr. Schultz and Mr. Ladanyi when he decided to pull to the 29 million out of the budget relating to storage.  Can I assume, up until that time, that you intended to treat this as a utility expense and a utility endeavour?


MR. HOEY:  To be honest with you, I'm not sure that that was the case, that that's what we were going to do.  It's that when we were thinking about the NGEIR, we weren't watching what was happening on the budget side.  We were focussed in on NGEIR, and then we kind of came up, Well, where's the money for the build?  And he says, Well, it's in the regulatory budget.  I said, But you're asking for it to be in the non‑utility portion of the thing; it can't be in the utility. 


So it was what I'll call more of an oversight.  The people who were putting in the budget dollars inside the storage department put it in like they would normally have, not really understanding what I'll call the regulatory suggestion that was sitting there. 


I mean, some might have suggested we were trying to double-dip or trying to claim it over here, a non‑utility, but we'll get it through the utility piece at the same time.  And we felt that that was inappropriate.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Go ahead.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. STEVENS:

MR. STEVENS:  I just have one question in redirect, sir.  

Mr. DeVellis asked you a number of questions about the timing of when the budgets were approved that underlie the filing in this case, and I just had one question following from that.  


I hope that you could expand for me a little bit on the tasks that have to be undertaken and completed and the time that it takes to do those tasks between the budgets that supported the application being approved and the application itself being filed.


MR. HOEY:  If we go to what I'll call the final approved budget by the executive, and it's at a high level, it then rolls back to making sure that all the details of all the entire filing now line up and work together.


So there's a process of ensuring that all the budget departments now align themselves with the filing, both at a departmental level and add up to the total levels that we've agreed to at the executive, and the same thing happens with capital.  You have to then re-run your entire capital structure, and, as I said, the financing that goes with it.


Those -- a typical realignment of the capital alone usually takes, internally, somewhere between one to two weeks, usually closer to two, to make sure that it's correct.


And that comes out in the cross‑examination, the types of IRs that we have.  It says, Why does this number and here, here, and the other one there?  We're trying to make sure that those all line up.


And then from there it is, Now that you have your budgets now lined up for '07 - you now have your '06 and you would have had your '05 - it's now to write your evidence, develop the schedule schedules that compare all of those things, write the evidence to talk about why the variances occurred, go back, do your research, to do that, and then start putting the evidence together on key issues.  Have you dealt with consultants, whatever, that are needed?  


And in this particular case, it was dealing with a lot of directives from the OEB from the 2006 decision, ensuring that you've addressed those directives, either have done them, are doing them, what stage you're doing them.  Prepare the evidence.  And then that's what I'll call the Phase I portion.

     When that is finally done, run through, we have the revenue deficiency calculated.  Then it's passed over to the rates group; and that takes them about two weeks to literally go from what I'll call the global level to literally breaking it down into the different services and costs and allocations by rate class, by area.  And then checking that; and that's another two weeks.

     In terms of overall process, once the budget has been struck, you're at least between a month to two months getting it filed, depending on the complexity of the issues that are involved.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  

I think that completes this Panel.  We're adjourned until the 22nd of March, at which time we'll find out the status on the two outstanding matters as to whether they're in settlement or whether they'll go into evidence.  

Thank you.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:35 p.m.
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